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Introduction
Thank you very much for taking the time to read our annual report.
There’s no denying that this year – along with many other NHS organisations around the
country – we have had some significant problems to deal with.
At times like these it can be easy to lose sight of the fact that we have also made real
progress in terms of developing and introducing some good health services for the residents
of west Hertfordshire.
These include: improved services for people at the end of their life and for their families;
helping people with diabetes to stay well and preventing others from developing this
condition; putting an integrated wheelchair service in place that provides assessments and
supply of equipment from one site and does this much more quickly; and expanded
provision of adult and child mental health services including a new Community Perinatal
Team.
Our community navigator service goes from strength to strength and the team won another
award this year – from the High Sherriff of Hertfordshire. As part of our work to support
vulnerable members of our community we led a conference on social prescribing with
national speakers and we have plans to take this to the next level in the coming year.
This year has also seen us successfully procure a new integrated NHS 111 and GP out of
hours service that will mean patients have access to a wider range of clinicians when they
dial 111. In primary care the Watford GP extended hours service continues and a significant
and very positive step was taken when our membership supported the proposal for Herts
Valleys CCG to take on delegated commissioning of general practice contracts. Our drive to
reduce unnecessary hospital admissions achieved a real boost with the launch of our
programme of direct clinical support to nursing homes and their residents - led by our care
home improvement team. We have also been able to review continuing health care
packages and improved awareness of safeguarding issues for adults and children.
We were pleased to have been shortlisted for a healthcare people management association
award – for the practical work we have done with disability charity Watford Workshop. Our
record on encouraging people to get involved with our work was also enhanced during this
year when we made big strides in expanding our patient group network and held a series of
lively and well-attended sessions as part of our Your Care, Your Future programme. We also
took the opportunity, as part of the consideration of options for the reconfiguration of
hospital services, to involve patient representatives in detailed examination and scoring of
individual options – something that is rare in major change projects.
You can read more about these and other achievements later on in this report.
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It has been well reported that alongside many other parts of the NHS, our organisation’s
finances have been under pressure for some time. Despite considerable efforts over the
last 12-18 months to reduce our costs we have been unable to bring expenditure down
sufficiently and this means that we are will not be in a position to deliver our financial plan
this year.
Because of this we were placed in formal ‘financial turnaround’ at the end of 2016. You can
find out more about our financial position in the performance section of this report.
Essentially it has meant that we have examined all our expenditure and have started to
make some difficult choices in terms of what we need to do to improve our financial
position and at the same time continuing to focus on improving the health of local people.
The coming year will see us continuing to implement Your Care, Your Future - our strategy
for delivering sustainable health and social care in west Hertfordshire. Residents will see
more health services moving out of hospital into the community closer to where they live
and more detailed planning around provision of hospitals in the area. All this forms part of
the partnership work we are involved in on a wider scale – the sustainability and
transformation Plan (STP). This is where we work collaboratively with partners across
Hertfordshire and west Essex to plan for improved services within tight financial constraints.
Take a look at our section on Your Care, Your Future in this report.
We continue to be very grateful for the level of engagement and support we receive from
local residents and patients. Hearing first hand experiences and opinions from the people
who use the health services we commission means that we can use what you tell us to make
sure that those services are of high quality and meet the needs of our population.
We have also been pleased to receive the support and co-operation from our partners and
other stakeholders that is so essential and look forward to even closer working in the year
ahead. Thanks also go to Herts Valleys’ member practices and the clinical leads who are so
critical to the work we do.
None of what we have achieved this year would be possible without our team of hardworking, committed and highly skilled staff here at Herts Valleys so a big ‘thank you’ goes
out to them too.
Next year (2017/18) will be another challenging year for us as we continue to look at
making changes to deliver real improvements in services for local people and finding the
savings we know we must make. We have an exciting time ahead of us and we are
committed to involving partners and all those who want to work with us so that we can
achieve further successes in this coming year.

Dr Nicolas Small
Chair

Kathryn Magson
Chief Executive

4

Your Care, Your Future
Taking forward our strategy for health and social care in west Hertfordshire
NHS organisations in west Hertfordshire are working with Hertfordshire County Council to
transform the way that we deliver health and social care services in the future under our
Your Care, Your Future programme.
Your Care, Your Future is about serving patients better and meeting increasing demands on
services by making sure that people get the right care, at the right time and in the right
place. We will do this by developing more preventative care and more joined up primary,
community and social care services providing local support that prevents or reduces the
need for specialist care in a hospital. This will also make services more affordable to deliver.
Our Your Care, Your Future plans feed into the sustainability and transformation plan (STP)
for Hertfordshire and west Essex, called A Healthier Future, which was published at the end
of 2016. These bigger plans are being produced across the whole country and show how
local health and care services in each area will evolve over five years to improve patient care
while keeping costs under control.
Key areas of focus in both plans are:




helping people to live healthier lives and avoid preventable illnesses;
providing more health and care services at home or in local communities so that people
only go to hospital for specialist and emergency treatments; and
making services more efficient by improving the way that health and care services work
together.

Your Care, Your Future and the STP recognise that there will always be a need for good
emergency care and specialised care services, including surgery. Investing in better hospital
facilities is a key part of making sure that health services are fit for the future.
ACUTE HOSPITALS RECONFIGURATION
During 2016 Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group and West Hertfordshire Hospitals
NHS Trust led a process to look at options for future hospital services in west Hertfordshire.
This factored in wider changes planned as part of Your Care, Your Future.
All three hospitals in west Hertfordshire – Watford General, St Albans City and Hemel
Hempstead – are in poor condition and do not provide an appropriate environment for
delivering modern clinical care.
The review examined different options for providing hospital facilities that would meet
future health care needs including building a new hospital on a new central site (called the
‘greenfield’ option) as well as various options for redeveloping the main hospital sites in
Watford and St Albans.
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Over summer 2016 all options were thoroughly assessed looking at criteria such as clinical
safety, patient experience (including travel) and deliverability as well as the costs and
financial impacts. This process involved clinicians (GPs and consultants), health and social
care professionals, local politicians and a number of patient representatives. We also sought
the views of residents through engagement events and a survey.
The assessment process concluded that the proposal to develop existing hospital sites in
Watford and St Albans should be taken forward. This will see Watford General Hospital
continuing to provide emergency and specialised care services and St Albans City Hospital
being further developed as a planned care centre, including cancer and surgical services.
This preferred option is now being developed into a strategic outline case (SOC).
Redevelopment for both sites would include a mixture of new build and major
refurbishment of some existing buildings. A full new build at Watford General Hospital
remains a possibility.
In February 2017 the SOC was approved by the West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
board. The SOC will also need to be signed off by Herts Valleys CCG as the commissioner of
services. This is expected to be considered by our board in summer 2017 following a quality
assurance process to make sure that the proposals are fully aligned with the new models of
care outlined in Your Care, Your Future.
The SOC will need further approval from NHS England and NHS Improvement to progress to
an outline business case. This will decide the amount of new build versus redevelopment,
how the work will be financed and will produce some initial designs for outline planning
consent.
INTEGRATED HEALTH AND CARE SERVICES
Work is progressing on developing joined up local health and care services based around GP
practices or new health and wellbeing centres, helping professionals to work together to
support patients and carers and making it easier for people to access services.
Hemel Hempstead Health and Wellbeing Centre - Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation
NHS Trust and Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust are developing a new health and
wellbeing centre in The Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead that will open in early 2018. The new
£6million centre will see mental and physical health services delivered from a single
location.
Redevelopment of Hemel Hempstead hospital site – Plans for a new purpose built medical
centre on the Hemel Hempstead Hospital site are being developed by a group led by Herts
Valleys CCG. Proposals to provide a range of primary care, urgent care and planned
outpatient and diagnostic services on the site alongside new housing are being developed in
a strategic outline case that is due to be completed later in 2017. A £30m capital bid to
develop the new centre is included in the sustainability and transformation plan.
Harpenden Memorial Hospital – Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust is leading the
redevelopment of the Harpenden Memorial Hospital site to provide a state-of-the-art health
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facility. It will bring together a range of services including primary care, physiotherapy,
retinal screening, diabetes care, bladder and bowel care diagnostic services, health visiting,
midwifery and speech and language therapy. Some voluntary organisations will have a base
on the site and some services will be delivered through children’s centres.
Other health and wellbeing hubs – Herts Valleys CCG is working with local clinicians and
patients to develop plans for a new Borehamwood health and wellbeing hub in Elstree Way.
A strategic outline case that will ensure that the hub meets the needs of the local
population is in development and should be completed later in 2017. A similar process is
underway to develop a hub in South Oxhey.
NEW COMMUNITY MODELS OF CARE
We are working with providers including NHS Trusts, Hertfordshire County Council and Herts
One, which represents GPs, to develop new local services that are based on national models
of care. Providers have signed up to co-design and provide joined-up services that will
benefit patients by making sure that they get the right care, from the right professional and
at the right time. Some of the new services that we are delivering are described below.
Enhanced Community Respiratory Service (ECRS)
The ECRS, which has been operational since October 2014, provides treatment and
management of patients with diagnosed chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD),
asthma, bronchiectasis, interstitial lung disease, sleep apnoea and tuberculosis. The service
offers a ‘hospital at home’ service for patients with exacerbations of COPD, asthma or
bronchiectasis. In the last year over 1000 patients were referred to the service and 91% had
their care managed by the respiratory team in their own home instead of being admitted to
hospital.
End of life care
We have been working with providers to improve palliative care and end of life care services
for patients and carers in line with a new strategy that was launched in 2016. This work
seeks to put as much control as possible into the hands of patients and their families and
make things as easy as we can by making sure that services are joined up.
Please follow this link to download the strategy.
Palliative care nurses - Palliative care providers such as Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
and hospices have reorganised services to make sure that patients across west
Hertfordshire have equal access to specialist palliative care nurses. This happened at the
start of 2017.
Electronic Palliative Care Coordination System - A new electronic patient record system
(Electronic Palliative Care Coordination System) went live in July 2016. This system which is
accessed by health and care providers such as GPs, hospitals and hospices makes sure
patients receive coordinated care that reflects their wishes. About 350 patients have
registered on the system.
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Palliative Care Referral Centre - A new centre that will coordinate services for people
needing palliative and end of life care opened in April 2017. The Palliative Care Referral
Centre will support areas like hospital discharges by giving professionals a single point of
contact to check which providers have spaces to care for people. It will also provide an
advice line for clinicians. The centre is being hosted by Peace Hospice and will be run jointly
using specialist community nurses from the various providers.
Care homes
We have been working to improve the medical support for residents in 169 care and nursing
homes across west Hertfordshire to keep people healthy and reduce emergency admissions
into hospital.
There are three main elements to this service:


Care Home Improvement Team - Our Care Home Improvement Team (CHIT) has
continued to help reduce hospital admissions and has also avoided people being
kept in hospital for conditions that could be nursed in the care homes – making a
huge difference to patients and easing pressure on hospital beds. The CHIT, which
expanded from two to four specialist nurses in 2016/17 provides telephone advice,
training support and guidance on best practice to the homes in areas such as
pressure area care, falls, diabetes and catheter care with the aim of helping people
stay well and reducing emergency admissions. The team also supports regular
patient reviews by care home staff and GPs to help them proactively manage
ongoing conditions. The team has helped to halve admissions in the ten homes
which had the highest number of patients going into hospital and has reduced
admissions by 10% elsewhere.
To build on all the good work that has been undertaken by the CHIT during the year
further work is planned for 17/18 to enhance the actions that have already occurred
in west Hertfordshire. Five priority cohorts of care homes were identified during
16/17 which represented 80% of the admissions to WHHT received from three of the
four localities. During the coming year the Team will be re-focussing on the care
homes in the remaining locality as well as reviewing the admissions of our patients
at other acute trusts such as The Royal Free London Hospitals Trust and Luton and
Dunstable Hospital Trust.



Emergency Care Practitioner Service - Herts Valleys CCG funds a team made up of
emergency care practitioners (ECPs) from the ambulance service, to visit people in
care homes who need urgent medical care and to reduce the number of unnecessary
visit to hospital. The team which launched in 2015 initially supported 54 homes in
Dacorum, St Albans and Harpenden and Watford and Three Rivers.
In 2016 the service team was due to be expanded to run two mobile teams serving
care homes across all of west Hertfordshire and providing a service from 6.30am to
11pm. The contracts for this service to expand are in the final stages of negotiation
and are expected to be rolled out by June 2017 in order to be well established for
winter.
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Allocated GP practices - We want people in care, residential or nursing homes to
receive high standards of health care and receive the same services they would if
they were living in their own home. We are developing a new contract that will see a
GP practice aligned to every care home. This includes residential and nursing homes
for older people as well as homes for people with learning disabilities or mental
health problems.
This will start from summer 2017 and will be rolled out during the rest of the year.
Each practice will offer care homes a single, regular point of contact to provide
continuity of care for residents. Seeing patients on a long-term basis will also help
with managing people’s health, for example providing an annual medical review for
each resident and taking action to reduce the risk of falls. Patient choice will also be
a factor, so that people will be free to choose GPs other than those allocated to their
care home.

All of these services are working with each other to strengthen care for our most vulnerable
residents.
Stroke services
Last year 700 people in west Hertfordshire had a stroke. We are working to ensure that
hospital and community services work well together to improve outcomes for stroke
survivors.
Evidence shows that stroke patients recover more fully if they have rapid access to an acute
stroke unit, like that at Watford General Hospital which treats most people in our area, and
then smooth handovers to specialist, organised community teams to continue their care and
rehabilitation. Good information and advice and comprehensive health reviews are also
important.
We have been redesigning stroke services with these things in mind. Herts Valleys CCG is
working with current providers of stroke services to make sure that there is a
comprehensive stroke service that supports people at each stage of their recovery and helps
them to stay well.
A new specialist neurological and stroke rehabilitation unit at Langley House in Watford has
been established to support patients coming out of hospital. Once patients are able to go
home a specialist community stroke team picks up their care and support.
Herts Valleys CCG and Hertfordshire County Council provide a combined health and social
care early supported discharge service. This provides rehabilitation packages for up to six
weeks for patients in their own home, addressing people’s social and health care needs.
Patients also receive thorough health and social care reviews every six months, which are
also designed to prevent secondary strokes.
The quality and effectiveness of stroke services is monitored by the Sentinel Stroke National
Audit Programme (SSNAP). This collects data for stroke patients in every acute hospital, and
follows their progress through recovery, rehabilitation, and outcomes at the point of six
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month assessment. From April 2016 West Hertfordshire Hospital NHS Trust received the
highest ‘A’ rating from SSNAP. This evidences the high quality of services delivered by the
stroke team at Watford hospital, the early supported discharge team, community and social
care services.

Integrated wheelchair service
Since April 2016 wheelchair users across Hertfordshire have benefitted from an integrated
service that provides assessments, supply, adaptations and repairs of wheelchairs on one
site. The new service has reduced the time between people having their assessment and
getting their wheelchair and, in some cases it is possible for people to receive their ‘chair in
a day’. Between September 2016 and February 2016 around 100 people per month were
given their wheelchair on the same day as their assessment. The service also provides
specialist and bespoke wheelchairs.
Millbrook Healthcare Ltd, which is providing the interim service, has been awarded the
contract on a five-year basis following a procurement by Herts Valleys and East and North
Hertfordshire clinical commissioning groups, with input from wheelchair users and carers.
The new service, which starts on 1 October 2017, will be enhanced to include an additional
evening and Saturday morning clinic each week and four new satellite bases across
Hertfordshire. This will provide some services locally so that people don’t always have to go
to the main base in Welwyn Garden City for appointments.
NEW SERVICES IN 2017/18
Gynaecology – A new Enhanced Community Gynaecology Service, starting from September
2017, is a collaboration between the existing community gynaecology provider and local
acute hospitals (WHHT, Luton and Dunstable Hospital and the Royal Free). This new style
service across all localities will see diagnostic tests and treatments combined into one
appointment where possible. It will ensure that patients will be supported locally rather
than having to attend hospital appointments.
Diabetes - We are developing an integrated diabetes service, to launch from October 2017,
so that patients needing care from different professionals will no longer have to go to
multiple appointments. The service will include innovations like ‘virtual clinics’ so that
consultants will join GP appointments by phone or video conferencing. GP support will also
be boosted by yearly consultant visits to practices. There will be a big emphasis on giving
people support and advice so that they get better at managing their diabetes themselves.
Diabetes specific mental health care will ensure the service can address patients’ physical
and mental health care needs.
In October 2016, working jointly with Hertfordshire County Council and East and North
Herts CCG we launched a county-wide diabetes prevention programme, ‘Healthier You’.
This free programme provides tailored, personalised help to reduce patients’ risk of
developing Type 2 diabetes, including education on healthy eating and lifestyle, help to lose
weight and bespoke physical activity programmes, all of which together have been proven
to reduce the risk of developing the disease.
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Since its launch, GPs in Hertfordshire have referred over 1470 patients who have been
identified as being at risk of developing diabetes based on their blood sugar levels. All those
referred have been offered an initial assessment at a venue close to where they live.
Highly skilled health and wellbeing coaches provide a mixture of one-to-one and group
sessions over a 9 month period to support lasting lifestyle changes. Several group sessions
have started across the county and all localities will be offering a group session in due
course. Alternative venues will also be offered to ensure that the programme meets the
needs of patients and provides appropriate access to the support available.
Patients over the age of 18 years can be referred by their GP or nurse, based on their blood
sugar levels. For further information please visit the website here.
Community, Musculoskeletal (MSK), Pain and Postural Stability: We are procuring new
integrated community MSK, pain and postural stability services that will offer joined up care
across the four localities. A team of multi-disciplinary professionals (including consultants
and extended scope practitioners) will assess patients’ needs and provide access to the right
MSK and pain care pathways at the right time, helping them get the right treatment to selfmanage their condition. The new service will be operational by 1 December 2017.
Ear, Nose and Throat (ENT) and Ophthalmology: In 2017 we will procure new services for
ENT and Ophthalmology to secure services for a range of conditions that can be accessed
locally, rather than in acute hospitals. The new services will be available in 2018.
Communications and Engagement
Between July and September 2016 the CCG and West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
involved a range of stakeholders in examining options for future configuration of hospital
services. Clinical staff, managers and patients were represented on panels that were
convened to carry out a detailed evaluation of the options, demonstrating progressive
stakeholder involvement. As well as involving these key stakeholders in the options
appraisal, the Your Care, Your Future team met patient groups, held ‘conversation events’ in
locations across west Hertfordshire and carried out a survey to give everyone living in the
area the opportunity to share their views.
Many stakeholders have supported the proposed way forward to redevelop the current
hospital sites in Watford and St Albans but are keen to see ‘as close to new build’ as
possible. Some residents, particularly in Dacorum, continue to lobby for a new hospital on
a greenfield site. There will be ongoing engagement in developing the outline business case
for acute hospital plans and on the broader roll-out of Your Care, Your Future to ensure
stakeholder concerns are understood and addressed where possible. This includes
involving patients in detailed design of new facilities.
Engagement to date has tended to reach a mainly older and white demographic. We are
developing our approach to reach a more diverse audience, in line with the CCG’s
engagement objectives. We are taking learning from engagement events and working
with Healthwatch Hertfordshire to look at how we can design future activities to achieve
this.
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We will be continuing these conversations and engaging with people at a more local level to
look at how services will be developed to meet the needs of particular communities during
2017.
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Key events in 2016/17
Your Care, Your Future
Acute hospital reconfiguration: during 2016, together with West Hertfordshire Hospitals
NHS Trust, we undertook a review that looked at different options for providing hospital
facilities in the future.
A process was undertaken that thoroughly assessed all the options and clinicians, health and
social care professionals, local politicians and a number of patient representatives were
involved in this. We also sought the views of residents through engagement events and a
survey.
The assessment process concluded that the proposal to develop existing hospital sites in
Watford and St Albans should be taken forward. This will see Watford General Hospital
continuing to provide emergency and specialised care services and St Albans City Hospital
being further developed as a planned care centre, including cancer and surgical services.
This preferred option is now being developed into a strategic outline case (SOC) that will go
through a number of approval stages before it can progress to an outline business case.
This will decide the amount of new build versus redevelopment, how the work will be
financed and will produce some initial designs for outline planning consent.
Events: earlier this year, we held events in each of our four localities to update people on
hospital plans and to engage them in the new more community-based models of delivering
services. We will continue these conversations with people at a local level to look at how
services will be developed to meet the needs of particular communities during 2017.
New pathways: new pathways for community gynaecology, diabetes, musculoskeletal, pain
and postural stability, ear, nose and ophthalmology are under development now. These are
designed to help patients to get better at managing their health condition themselves
and/or to provide more services outside of hospital, for example at their GP surgery or in
community facilities such as clinics and health centres.
These new pathways will launch between autumn 2017 and winter 2017/18. You can read
about them in more detail and find out more about our plans for sustainable health and
social care in west Hertfordshire in our Your Care, Your Future pages earlier in this report.

Financial pressures and financial turnaround
Throughout the year we reported that our CCG – along with many others – is facing
increased financial difficulties and that in December 2016 we had been placed in formal
‘financial turnaround’. We appointed a turnaround director to work with us to review our
expenditure and support the work we need to do to bring our finances back on track.
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We also took another very important step which was to establish an investment committee.
This is a committee of our board which is delegated to review investments – previous and
possible future ones, examining evidence around value for money and return on
investment. The committee, made up of board members including local GPs, was tasked
with considering where we might be able to make the savings that are essential. The impact
on patients is a crucial criteria in its decision-making.
An early meeting of this committee decided not to make a payment of £8.5 million for
2017/18 to Hertfordshire County Council social care which is in addition to the funding we
provide via the Better Care Fund. In reviewing our expenditure for the forthcoming year, we
needed to consider this discretionary spending which is not core health spending; the
annual allocation we receive is specifically designed for health services, not social care.
This was not a step we took lightly and it resulted in Hertfordshire County Council
challenging this decision on grounds of the impact it would have on its own budget.
We revisited this decision at our board meeting that was held in public in March 2017 where
it was agreed to phase the implementation of our decision not to make additional
discretionary payments to Hertfordshire County Council for social care. This means that we
will be making a payment to Hertfordshire County Council of £4.5m for 2017/18; the original
decision would have meant no additional discretionary payment at all for next year.
Whilst both organisations are facing big financial challenges and we are in ‘financial
turnaround’, this decision recognised the close links between health and social care and the
shared agenda to improve the health of local residents through the Your Care, Your Future
programme. This phased arrangement will mitigate some of the likely challenges for the
county council.
Hertfordshire County Council has welcomed this approach and our positive and
collaborative working relationships have resumed. Both organisations are committed to
working closely together especially around joint monitoring of the Better Care Fund.

West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust and Care Quality Commission inspections
An inspection of West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust by the Care Quality Commission in
2015 rated the Trust as ‘inadequate’ and it was placed in Special Measures.
The key issues highlighted by the inspection related to patient safety not being a sufficient
priority; weaknesses around reporting, analysing and learning from incidents and patient
complaints; insufficient staffing levels, with an over-reliance on agency staff; inadequate
plans to manage risk; facilities being in a poor state of repair; and lack of stability at board
level.
It was very welcome news during this year that a re-inspection in September 2016 showed
that West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust has moved from ‘inadequate’ to ‘requires
improvement’, with an increase in the number of services graded as ‘good’ and a drop in the
number rated ‘inadequate’.
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Areas that have improved include medical and end of life care, maternity, gynaecology and
critical care along with outpatient and diagnostic services at St Albans and Hemel
Hempstead hospitals.
Areas where improvement is still needed include urgent and emergency care at Watford
General and despite an ‘outstanding’ rating for the second year running in the ‘care’ domain
for children and young people’s services, the overall rating for the service has shifted from
‘good’ to ‘requires improvement’. Inspectors judged that communication in the team
needed to be improved around learning from incidents and raising concerns. The level of
cancelled appointments was also noted.
The Trust will remain in special measures, but in the meantime will continue to work to their
CQC Quality Improvement Plan, which details all the actions that are required to be taken to
continue their journey of improvement. We will work with them to ensure all actions are
implemented to the timescales they have set themselves, provide support when required
and monitor the outcomes. We will check during Quality Assurance Visits that the
improvements are reaching all the right areas and people and report back any areas that
need further improvement.

Hertfordshire Community Trust and Care Quality Commission inspections
Hertfordshire Community Trust received a further inspection by the CQC in 2016 which
followed a previous inspection in 2015. This time the Trust received an improved rating of
‘good’ from the previous ‘requires improvement.’ The rating was based on a series of
improvements in areas such as safeguarding and end of life care.

Winter pressures
Emergency health services across Hertfordshire experienced major pressures during the first
weeks of 2017. Accident and Emergency departments were stretched by the number of
patients arriving there as was the ambulance service. We worked with West Hertfordshire
NHS Hospitals Trust to put in place measures to help deal with the unprecedented numbers
of patients attending the hospital as an emergency and to support a good ‘flow’ of patients
through the hospital. These included: a GP working in the emergency department so that
people with minor illness that could have been treated outside of hospital were seen and
treated; a ‘queue nurse’ to help look after and speed up the transfer of patients from
ambulances to the emergency department and a frailty service that ran six days a week to
allow older people to be assessed more quickly when they arrived in A&E. We also
supported the national “Stay Well This Winter” public awareness campaign encouraging
people to use the NHS 111 phone service first if they have an urgent medical need and to
seek help from their community pharmacist at the first sign of illness.

Hemel Hempstead Urgent Care Centre
In December we, and our provider partner West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust, took the
decision to temporarily close the urgent care centre (UCC) in Hemel Hempstead overnight.
Staffing the overnight shift at the UCC has been increasingly problematic; the pool of
doctors who are qualified and willing to work there overnight is small and has decreased.
This resulted in having to withdraw this service several times in the months running up to
December 2016.
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It is important to provide a consistent, dependable and therefore safe service during night
time hours and in view of the prospect of continued staffing issues, we made a temporary
change to the UCC’s opening hours. This means it now opens at 8am and closes at 10pm. By
doing this, it avoids having to close overnight on an ad hoc basis with little or no notice to
the public. This measure came into effect on Friday 16 December.
The staffing issues led all parties involved in running the UCC to consider what could be a
more effective model in the future. We undertook to involve local stakeholders in work to
review current urgent services in west Hertfordshire and how they are used and this work is
underway, initially via a survey. We are committed to establishing and delivering better
urgent care services in the area to meet the needs of our patients.

Transforming mental health services for children and young people
The five-year project to transform mental health services for children and young people
living in Hertfordshire has seen real improvements.
In the last 12 months, funding boosts have meant:
 more young people receiving counselling support
 extended hours so that urgent cases are seen more quickly
 a community team set up to support expectant and new mums with mental health
problems, their partners and families
 an expanded eating disorders team helping more young people
 120 frontline professionals who work with new families trained to improve their
understanding of infant mental health and
 more than 400 school staff and other professionals trained in how to spot emotional
wellbeing problems and support young people.
Across Hertfordshire, more than 2,250 10 to 25 year olds have registered to get free online
emotional and mental health counselling and support at www.Kooth.com, with anxiety the
top reason for young people seeking help.
We’re asking what young people want services to look like and Hertfordshire’s young
commissioners have helped us develop online information and are carrying out ‘mystery
shopping’ testing how services handle self-referrals.
Working with East and North Hertfordshire CCG, Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing
Board, Public Health, Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire Healthwatch, children and
young people, and other partners we continue to develop and implement the mental health
and wellbeing transformation plan for children and young people in Hertfordshire.
As part of this, seven new projects were awarded funding from the Innovation Fund. The
early help schemes, including counselling for LGBT+ young people and cognitive behavioural
therapy (CBT) for teenage boys excluded or at risk of exclusion from school, tested new
approaches.
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You can read the 2015-20 plan, Healthy Young Minds in Herts, here and find out where to
get support in Hertfordshire at www.healthyyoungmindsinherts.org.uk

Commissioning of Primary Medical Services (GP Contracts)
Since April 2015 we have been joint commissioners for primary medical services (GP
contracts) with NHS England. This arrangement enabled us to make joint decisions with
NHS England on commissioning GP services for local residents via our Joint Commissioning
Committee.
Examples of some joint decisions taken during 2016/17 include:




a decision on the future of The New Surgery in Tring following the resignation and
retirement of a single handed contractor
commissioning decisions on a small number of time-limited GP contracts working with
NHS England to run a competitive tender for Meadowell Practice in 2016/17
agreement on investment of services commissioned from GP contractors and input into
national programmes of work including premises developments, funding to support GP
practices to consider new ways of working.

In April 2016, NHS England (Central Midlands) invited its CCGs in joint commissioning
arrangements with to move to delegated commissioning (subject to member practices vote)
from April 2017.
We balloted our member practices and the outcome was a majority vote in favour of
moving from joint to delegated commissioning of GP contracts from April 2017. This has
subsequently been nationally approved by NHS England.
This means we have taken delegated responsibility from NHS England to directly
commission primary medical services (GP contracts). This includes responsibility for ensuring
contractual compliance, performance and quality of general practice contracts including
ensuring patients can register with a GP practice, access GP appointments and a range of
other service; financial management of GP practices annual budget payments; responsibility
for GP premises including but not limited to rent and rate reviews, premises
reimbursements and premises developments.
We are now working with NHS England to transition the transfer and we will be monitored
ensure that we are carrying out our statutory functions satisfactorily in this new area of
responsibility. This is a positive key development for our CCG because it means we can use
local knowledge to make decisions about providing GP and our of hospital services to our
residents in line with Your Care, Your Future.

Staff survey results
We had a good response rate of 77% to our 2016 staff survey. Overall there were some
positive results in areas such as the number of people who would recommend Herts Valleys
CCG as a place to work, those who said they felt their role made a difference and that Herts
Valleys CCG takes positive action on health and wellbeing.
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At the same time there are some areas that we must address and make progress on
including reducing experiences of harassment, bullying or abuse from staff/patients,
reducing discrimination from managers and making better provision for flexible working
opportunities.
Follow these links to read the full and detailed results (50 pages) or a shorter summary (19
pages).

A brief roundup of news from our four localities
Our CCG comprises four localities – Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and Harpenden and
Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these localities has a Locality Committee that is made up
of local GPs. The Locality Committees provide our Board with advice using their local
knowledge and expertise.
Dacorum locality (Chair: Dr Corina Ciobanu, Haverfield Surgery, Kings Langley)
Highlights from Dacorum locality this year include the establishment in January 2017 of the
Hemel Hospital project group. Membership of the group comprises representatives from
local NHS organisations, community and voluntary sector groups, local councillors and
patients. The aim of the group is to identify the most appropriate location for the hospital
to be redeveloped as well as the services it should provide to meet the needs of local people
and to bring care closer to people’s homes. We held a well-attended event in Hemel
Hempstead at the end of January to outline plans and to gather views and comments from
those attending. Following extensive research and analysis of current services, the next
steps are that during 2017/18 we will be agreeing the location of the new hospital and the
services it offers. This will be followed by the submission of a strategic outline business case
detailing the recommendations. There will be opportunities throughout the year for local
people, clinicians and other interested parties to input into the development of the hospital
and its services.
Also this year the Dacorum Holistic Healthcare Team has continued to work with a group of
our patients who have complex health conditions and it has built strong relationships with
local GPs. Taking a holistic approach and working in partnership with patients to better
manage their condition together, the team has been successful in reducing inappropriate
hospital admissions and we have seen a 38% decrease in the number of GP appointments
for these patients.
Hertsmere locality (Chair: Dr Raja Ganguly, Little Bushey Surgery, Bushey)
This year we have been focussing on identifying ways that we can improve access to primary
care services for our patients whilst also relieving pressures on our practices.
We set up a working group that is made up of representatives from eight of our nine
practices and together we have produced a proposal for a new medical model that will
improve collaborative working between our practices and provide patients with the
possibility of accessing same day appointments.

18

The development of our health and wellbeing hub in Borehamwood/Elstree is crucial to our
being in a position to provide joined up community and primary care services. We are
currently working with our key stakeholders to look at what services are delivered from the
hub to best meet the needs of our population. We also held a “conversation” event in June
last year that focused on health needs in Hertsmere and what services people would like to
see provided at our hub.
Another new development for Hertsmere this year is the establishment of Herts Health – a
GP federation made up of seven local practices – that is now providing a new leg ulcer
service to patients registered at all nine of our practices.
We greatly value and appreciate the time and input we receive from our patient
representatives and our Patient Participation Group (PPG) is a subcommittee of our locality
committee with two representatives invited to attend our locality meeting. As well as our
conversation event last year we also arranged for our PPG to visit to the Herts Urgent Care
call centre that operates the county’s NHS 111 service and the GP out of hours service. We
have also developed a Hertsmere specific information leaflet providing details to help
patients access the most appropriate urgent care services for their condition.
St Albans and Harpenden locality (Chair: Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway, The Maltings Surgery,
St Albans)
We’ve been keen to improve the uptake of invitations for the NHS bowel cancer screening
programme this year. We have raised awareness and encouraged those eligible by
displaying materials on noticeboards in practice waiting rooms, including information on
practice websites, flagging up electronic patient records to alert GPs to raise this with
patients and attaching reminder notes to repeat prescriptions. The most effective activity of
sending personalised letters from their GP to non -responders has encouraged 220 patients
to complete their kits.
During the year our practices have also held two successful and well attended events for
practice staff. These events, aimed at upskilling GPs and practice nurses to provide even
better care for our patients, have been very successful with over 90 clinicians participating.
Topics covered included type 2 Diabetes and identifying those patients at high risk of
diabetes; and musculoskeletal (muscle, bone and joint conditions) and management of
chronic pain.
Self- management and the prevention of ill health is a key priority for us and our practices
have offered additional clinics for patients to support this. Examples include diabetic clinics
as well as exercise and weight management clinics providing advice to patients on lifestyle
choices. We have also held clinics with our Community Navigator to give patients time to
discuss and receive help with non-medical concerns such as loneliness, isolation and
financial worries.
Watford and Three Rivers locality (Chair: Dr Kevin Barrett, New Road Surgery, Croxley
Green)
A highlight for our locality this year was demonstrating how we are working towards the
national direction of working from 8am to 8pm, 7 days a week. Our practices joined
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together to provide clinics on a rotating weekend basis so that any patient registered with a
GP in the locality could have access to a weekend GP appointment. We have an IT system
that enables practices to book patients into a weekend appointment in one of five locations.
Watford and Three Rivers GPs have continued their successful partnership working with
local schools and children’s centres to provide educational sessions on a variety of topics
including child and adolescent mental health services.
Some of our practices have established specialist patient groups to provide education,
support and signposting to enable patients to manage their health condition with
confidence. Health conditions include dementia, diabetes and learning disabilities. Also on
the theme of positively promoting healthy lifestyles to help reduce the risk of contracting a
preventable health condition, GPs in our locality are among the highest referrers to weight
management and exercise schemes. These include Shape Up for men (a scheme run at
Watford Football club); Beezee bodies (a 17 week programme for families); Slimming World
and Weight Watchers as well as Active for Life (motivational coaching support for
individuals).
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PERFORMANCE REPORT
Purpose of the Overview
The purpose of this section is to provide a summary with sufficient information to
understand Herts Valleys CCG, our purpose, the key risks to the achievement of our
objectives and how we have performed during the year.
The overview section describes our performance against key targets as well as our financial
performance. Further detail on financial performance is given in the accounts and within
the Corporate Governance Report part of the Accountability Report. Key risks identified in
2016/17 are listed in the section on “Risk management arrangements”, again within the
Governance Report.
Overview: about Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group
We are the NHS organisation responsible for commissioning (planning, designing and
buying) health services on behalf of people who live in west Hertfordshire. This is a
population of about 627,000.
Our Governing Body - our Board - is mainly made up of GPs and other clinicians with the
remainder comprising very senior CCG managers and Lay Members.
We are a member organisation and our 68 member GP practices are arranged into four
“localities”: Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers.
Each of these localities has a Locality Committee that is made up of local GPs. The Locality
Committees provide our Board with advice using their local knowledge and expertise to
ensure that the CCG carries out our role successfully.
In 2016/17 we had a total budget of around £762 million that we spent on community,
hospital and mental health services. We jointly commission some of our services – such as
mental health, NHS 111 and the GP out of hours service – in partnership with Hertfordshire
County Council and East and North Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group.
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How we spent our budget
Expenditure 2016/17
Acute hospitals
2%

2%

Mental health and learning
disabilities

5%
10%

4%

Community services
9%

58%
10%

Continuing care/funded nursing
care
Medicines management,
including prescribing
Other primary care
Other programme

Annual
Annual
Accounts Accounts
2015/16 2016/17
£000
£000
Revenue resource limit
Programme
Running costs

705,025
12,999

748,530
13,203

Sub total

718,024

761,733

407,902
74,708
59,964
28,594

438,574
79,765
66,471
34,877

75,066
14,849
36,931
12,999

74,174
15,757
38,693
13,178

711,013

761,489

7,011

244

Expenditure
Acute hospitals
Mental health and learning disabilities
Community services
Continuing care/funded nursing care
Medicines management, including
prescribing
Other primary care
Other programme
Running costs
Sub Total
Surplus
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In the table and chart above "other primary care" includes services such as the supply of
oxygen, the GP out of hours service and IT services to GP practices.
“Other programme" includes services such as physiotherapy, counselling and a proportion
of our contribution to the Better Care Fund
Financial performance targets
The CCG’s 2016/17 financial plan, agreed at the start of the year with NHS England, included
a contribution equivalent to 1% of our allocation to a national financial risk reserve; the plan
assumed that we would maintain our brought-forward surplus of about £7 million. In the
event we were unable to maintain our accumulated surplus, nor make this contribution, but
we did meet our statutory duty of ensuring that our expenditure does not exceed our total
Revenue Resource Limit (RRL). We have met this duty in each year of our existence. The RRL
includes the accumulated surplus brought forward from our first three years and we used
most of this accumulated surplus to support our financial position.
Financial Performance Targets)
As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1 percent
reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the monies that
CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released
for investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities to the extent that
evidence emerged of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS
England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent. Therefore,
to comply with this requirement, HVCCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line,
resulting in an additional surplus for the year of £7.5m. This additional surplus has been
offset against other cost pressures from the current financial year.
Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund initiative was announced in the 2013 Spending Review, and required
CCGs and local authorities to pool funding for the delivery of integrated health and social
care. As a result, partnerships of CCGs and local authorities have entered into agreements
under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, overseen by local Health and Wellbeing Boards.
These agreements have established pooled budgets to enable integrated commissioning of
care from providers. These budgets have been in place since 2015/16.
In Hertfordshire, the Better Care Fund for 2016/17, which is overseen by the county-wide
Health and Wellbeing Board, totals £304m, making it one of the largest in the country.
Contributions (as budgeted and including Herts Valleys CCG’s £99 million contribution) are
as follows:
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Contributions to the Better Care Fund 2016/17
by organisation

59,147
HCC (East)

99,386

HCC (West)
E&NH
62,216

C&P
HV

1,051
82,206

The Better Care Fund Plan identifies how, by working in a more integrated manner, we can
deliver a health and social care system that is characterised by:








simple and efficient ways of accessing services which promote the principle of ‘no wrong
door’ – making it easier for those individuals, families and carers to deal with different
organisations.
sharing intelligence and improving coordination between agencies to avoid multiple
handling of individuals, and avoid duplication of effort in a resource-limited system
professionals working together in a timely manner to prevent service users needing an
unnecessary escalation of care
appropriate and fair data sharing protocols which will share the relevant information to
ensure patients and service users get quality and timely health and social care
a focus on addressing needs early to prevent patients needing more intensive and costly
care
more information for individuals so that they know more about how they can help
themselves and remain living independently
a workforce which is appropriately skilled to deliver our joint vision of effective,
progressive and efficient community care and a single point of contact for health and
community services.

In 2016/17, Hertfordshire’s health and social care integration focus has been on the
following areas:


Services working together to maximise the independence of people in
Hertfordshire: for example trialling a joint care plan for patients that includes all the
services they receive regardless of who provides them instead of a separate individual
plan from each organisation.
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Effective integrated community services built around primary care: for example
expanding a multi-speciality team (MST) approach to each of our four localities. The
MST supports people who have complex health and social care needs who receive
services from a range of organisations. The MST has locality co-ordinators aligned to GP
surgeries who provide case management across organisations to ensure people received
joined up care.



Jointly commissioning services with partners in health and social care to meet the needs
of individuals for example commissioning community beds and specialist homecare
services.



Bringing together teams of staff from a range of professions such as community nurses,
therapists, mental health and social care workers who are employed by different NHS
and social care organisations. Creating these “integrated” teams means traditional
organisational boundaries can be broken through leading to smoother and more joined
up services for patients and service users.

Further work on how these priorities will be taken forward in 2017/18 is currently being
developed in the Better Care Fund Plan 2017/19.

Performance against key targets in 2016/17
1. Overview of performance
The following table shows Herts Valleys’ performance against the key targets in 2016/17 as
set by NHS England. The performance data relates to the treatment of patients registered
with practices in the Herts Valleys CCG area.
Key:
Red – target missed
Green – target met
Key Performance Indicator

Target
Level

Year to
date at
March
2017

Cancer 2 week waits following urgent GP referral for suspected cancer

93%

92.6%

Cancer 2 week waits - Breast Symptomatic where cancer not suspected

93%

85.7%

Cancer 31 day - 1st definitive treatment from diagnosis

96%

96.2%

Cancer 31 day - Subsequent treatment for cancer - Surgery

94%

96.8%

Cancer 31 day - Subsequent treatment for cancer - Drugs

98%

97.8%

Cancer Standards
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Key Performance Indicator

Target
Level

Cancer 31 day - Subsequent treatment - Radiotherapy

94%

Year to
date at
March
2017
93.4%

Cancer 62 days - 1st treatment following an urgent GP referral

85%

84.1%

Cancer 62 days - 1st treatment following referral from Screening Service

90%

93.5%

Cancer 62 days - 1st treatment following consultants decision to upgrade

90%

84.5%

Ambulance Category A - Red 1 ( immediate life threatening and most
time critical) response arriving within 8 minutes - commissioner

75%

67.9%

Ambulance Category A - Red 2 (life threatening but less time critical than
Red 1) response arriving within 8 minutes - commissioner

75%

68.8%

95%

90.7%

92%
99%

89.6%
99.6%

95%

86.1%

Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) – 15% prevalence

15%

15.6 %

Dementia diagnosis rate

67%

66.1%

Ambulance Standards

Ambulance Category A - Ambulance (arrival within 19 minutes) commissioner
Elective Care Standards
18 week Referral to Treatment - Incomplete pathway
Diagnostic tests - % of patients waiting 6 weeks or more
Urgent Care Standards
A&E total time in Department - less than 4 hours
Mental Health Standards

We measure our performance through a monthly quality and performance report that
includes information about a range of services provided to our patients by a number of NHS
hospitals, the mental health trust, the community trusts and the ambulance service. This
report highlights performance against standards and targets so that the Board are informed
and can discuss any issues and take actions that may be needed to assure standards are
met. Performance and other board reports can be downloaded from our website.
2. Performance analysis
Cancer performance
In 2015/16 we achieved seven of the nine cancer standards. In 2016/17 this performance
worsened to three of the nine standards.
The four standards which have not been met in 2016/17 but which were met in 2015/16
are:
i)
Cancer 2 week waits following urgent GP referral for suspected cancer
ii)
Cancer 31 day – subsequent treatment for cancer - drugs
iii)
Cancer 31 day - subsequent treatment – radiotherapy
iv)
Cancer 62 days - 1st treatment following a consultant’s decision to upgrade
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We did achieve two of the four 31 day treatment standards and one of the three 62 day
treatment standards.
The cancer standards are measured as the percentage of patients who are seen or treated
within the stated timeframe. There are relatively small numbers of patients who need to be
seen in these services so a very small numbers of patient seen outside of the standard can
be the difference between meeting and not meeting. During 2016/17 we have been working
very closely with the cancer service providers and with our GPs who refer the patients to
ensure all patients have as short a wait as possible, aiming to meet the 93% target for 2
week waits following urgent GP referral. We did not meet the target; 92.3% patients were
seen within 2 weeks. We have been looking closely and analysing the reasons for delays
with our providers. The main reason for delay is patient cancellation.
It is important to note that Herts Valleys CCG narrowly missed (by less than 1%) four of the
cancer standards.
Actions that are taking place to improve performance are:






Increased usage of a decision support pathway tool (DXS) to speed up the referral
process supported by a patient information leaflet.
Herts Valleys CCG GP practices are working with WHHT to improve the use of the
electronic referral system.
We have, via our clinical lead for cancer, sent out communications emphasising to GPs
the importance of reminding patients about attending their two week wait
appointment. This has been supported through the recent round of GP cancer training
sessions.
We are carrying out benchmarking with other CCGs and Trusts to ensure that all actions
to improve performance are being undertaken.

The Herts Valleys CCG Cancer Action Group is closely monitoring action plans that have
been developed to make sure that patients with cancer or who are suspected of having
cancer are seen and treated within the national standards. We have seen recent
improvements, with the 2 week waits following urgent GP referral for suspected cancer
target being met for quarter 4 of 2016/17. We continue to work closely with the cancer
service providers and our GPs to ensure we sustain these improvements.
At West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust (West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust) we are
developing a process for patients with prostate and lower gastro intestinal cancer so that
their test results can be discussed on the day in clinic meaning that patients do not need to
come back at a later date for their results.
Ambulance performance
The ambulance service which operates in our area is provided by the East of England
Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST). Performance for Red 1 and Red 2 response calls
(immediate life threatening – response arriving within 8 minutes) remains below the 75%
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standard. However there has been improved performance for Red 1 and Red 2 categories
against the previous year.
A fortnightly operational performance group continues to monitor performance. High staff
vacancy levels have adversely impacted on response times and are being addressed as part
of EEAST’s commitment to recruiting more paramedics which includes exploring options
such as overseas recruitment. Recent recruitment and retention information showed a
positive balance in relation to staff turnover.
Additional schemes have been set up to support admission avoidance, such as Street Triage,
a mobile unit supporting mental health patients in conjunction with the police. And we are
hoping to expand the scheme where a mobile emergency care practitioner offers direct
support to care homes.
Ambulance handover times at A&E departments continue to be challenging although there
has been a slight improvement at West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust during February and
March 2017. Commissioners have an agreed action plan with EEAST along with fortnightly
performance improvement meetings to monitor performance and discuss remedial actions.
A project group with Herts Valleys CCG, West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust, NHS
Improvement and SSG Health has been set up to directly support improving performance.
Elective care referral to treatment (RTT)
The four main hospitals that provide services to our residents are not meeting the 18 week
referral to treatment standard of 92% of patients being treated within 18 weeks of a
referral. West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust agreed a trajectory to reach compliance on RTT
targets by the end of the year. Whilst there has been considerable improvement and the
backlog has decreased there are still challenges to be addressed.
The increase in urgent care demand during 2016/17 has added additional pressure to the
availability of beds and theatre capacity in the hospital for non-urgent (elective) operations.
We are working with our hospitals to support the implementation of action plans developed
to clear any backlog and deliver the standard during 2017/18. At West Hertfordshire
Hospitals Trust there has been a focus on outsourcing to support demand which has
contributed to the reduction of the backlog and will be continued into 2017/18. There will
also be significant concentration on reducing delayed transfers of care.
The Royal Free and Luton and Dunstable Hospitals Trusts have met or exceeded the 92%
standard every month since May 2016.
Urgent Care
As widely reported in the national media, 2016/17 has been a challenging year for urgent
care services and especially A&E departments.
As demand for urgent health care services - both locally and nationally - continues to
increase, we have been looking at alternative ways of delivering these services in a way that
meets the needs of the population.
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For 2016/17 a key priority for health and social care partners in Hertfordshire was to focus
on improving and maintaining our performance against the standard for patients to be seen
and treated in A&E within four hours.
This has been a recurring problem for us here in west Hertfordshire so we agreed a recovery
improvement plan, with a range of solutions and began implementation of this in June
2016. While performance improved slightly we were unable to meet and sustain the 95%
standard for A&E waiting times.
High demand for urgent care services has also had a significant impact on the handover of
patients from ambulance to A&E departments. However since the start of an ambulance
handover to hospital project in March 2017, 150 hours of ambulance time has been freed
up allowing more vehicles and crews to get back on the road to look after other patients.
We put in place a number of other initiatives that would help to support the system,
including having community staff working at the hospital to help improve discharge from
hospital to community services. This has resulted in a reduction in the number of
inappropriate or incomplete referrals and an increase in the number of referrals screened
within an hour.
In addition we trialled a number of other projects, including: identifying beds to facilitate
earlier discharge; reduce admissions for frail patients by providing a comprehensive geriatric
assessment undertaken by a care of the elderly consultant and their team; and locating a GP
in the A&E department to redirect patients with minor injuries and illnesses to an
alternative, appropriate service. This latter initiative is continuing in 2017/18 with a review
due in July 2017.
In 2017/18 we are focusing on delayed transfers from one service to another – for example
from a hospital bed into the care of community services. We are liaising on a daily basis
with all our local hospitals to identify where there are delays in transferring patents and to
find solutions to them.
Throughout the year and using a range of social, print and broadcast media, we remind
residents of the importance of using the right service for their health condition:






NHS 111
Community pharmacy
GP practice
Urgent care centre at Hemel Hempstead Hospital, open 8am-10pm, seven days a week
Minor injuries unit at St Albans City Hospital, 9am to 8pm seven days a week

We are committed to strengthening and improving access to services provided by GPs and
their teams. For instance practices in Watford and Three Rivers locality have come together
to offer extended hours on weekday evenings and over weekends.
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Improved Access to Physiological Therapy (IAPT) services
Our IAPT services support people with depression and anxiety and are on track to see more
people than we planned in the 2016/17. In addition, standards around maximum waiting
times have consistently been achieved and recovery rates are better than the targets and on
course to exceed by the end of year. This has been achieved through integrating the mental
health commissioning team with primary care, locality and planned commissioning teams at
the CCG.
We planned to meet the standard for 10,809 people entering treatment (15% of the
estimated prevalence). Of those entering treatment, over 75% would be seen with six
weeks, 95% within 18 weeks, and 50% of those completing treatment to recover.
We have been able to successfully bid for over £1.1 million in 2017/18 to integrate these
services with primary care and physical health providers to benefit patients with diabetes
and other long term conditions, to maintain their overall wellbeing. This step will help
ensure we meet additional targets in 2017/18 and build a local business case for continued
development and integration of IAPT services. A similar amount of investment has also been
secured from the Department of Work and Pensions over the next three years to support
people with depression and anxiety to remain or return to work.
Dementia diagnosis
We planned to reach the dementia diagnosis standard of 66.7% of those estimated to have
dementia having a recorded diagnosis by the end of 2016/17, but we have not quite met
this target. The rate of dementia diagnosis is improving for our patients, up from 60.9% at
the end of January 2016 to 66.1% at the end of March 2017. We continue to engage with
GP practices and provide targeted support to those which have the largest gap between
their actual diagnosis rate and their expected diagnosis rate.
Fourteen of our 68 GP practices have already had a visit from the dementia project lead,
with a further 10 identified to receive support over the coming months. We continue to
move towards the dementia diagnosis target of 66.7% of the estimated prevalence. This
year out of fourteen CCG areas in the region we have made the second highest percentage
increase. This means that 347 more patients than at the start of the year received a
dementia diagnosis and the support for them and their carer to live well with the condition.
Continued improvement of the Memory Service is ensuring wait times for a diagnosis
decrease each month, and primary care engagement is supporting case finding, GP
diagnosis and accurate coding.
Improving performance
In December 2016 we set out our operational plan for the two year planning cycle 2017/19.
The plan explained our focus on the delivery of national policy to achieve the nine ‘must
dos’, national NHS Constitutional standards and finance business rules during 2017/19.
We are working with the East of England Cancer Alliance, the west Hertfordshire Local A&E
Delivery Board, NHS Improvement and NHS England to strengthen performance
management and the delivery processes needed to achieve these standards. Getting
performance back on track is a key priority to safeguard core NHS Constitution standards for
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the local population and to accelerate the recovery trajectory for the local acute hospital so
they access in full the sustainability and transformation fund.
Increasing efficiency
In 2017/18 we will be part of the national roll out of the NHS RightCare programme which is
designed to make best use of available resources to improve people’s health. It supports
CCGs in gathering data and evidence to compare variations in health between CCGs with
similar populations, to consider why there are differences and to look at what needs to
change to improve the way care is delivered for patients and populations.
When compared with our ten most similar CCGs, the latest Commissioning for Value pack
identified the following six areas where there are opportunities to improve healthcare and
increase value:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)
vi)

Circulatory problems
Gastroenterology
Musculoskeletal conditions
Respiratory problems
Mental health disorders
Maternity and early years.

We will introduce new services based on these opportunities following the pathway
redesign work started in 2016/17.
Musculoskeletal conditions: We are procuring an integrated community musculoskeletal,
pain and postural stability service which we aim to launch during 2017/18. We are also
developing a pathway around falls as RightCare indicates there are opportunities to reduce
frailty fractures and associated spend on emergency care as well as further efficiencies in
elective/planned care in areas such as hips and knees by reducing unnecessary follow ups in
hospitals.
Gastroenterology: Working with West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust we have developed
clinical pathways for patients with lower gastrointestinal problems. Our clinical decision
supporting software, DXS, guides general practices in following the new pathways. We will
also carry out a further analysis of data during 2017/18 to look into the high non-elective
spend on gastroenterology services.
Respiratory: Emergency admissions for respiratory patients have declined compared to
previous years, with practices managing patients in primary care and providing enhanced
care in the community. During 2017/18 we will do further work to integrate acute and
community respiratory services to ensure patients receive a joined up service regardless of
which organisation delivers it.
Maternity and early years: A review of the maternity service at our main provider trust was
carried out in line with the National Maternity Review (March 2016). This resulted in the
development of an action plan to implement recommendations.
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A designated team of midwives who provide care, support and treatment for vulnerable
women, such as those who have misused substances, perinatal mental health concerns,
teenagers and asylum seekers, has been implemented.
In addition the following activity has been undertaken at West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust:
●
●
●
●

Implementation of the “Saving Babies Lives” method of care that aims to reduce
stillbirths
The rate of caesarean sections has been reduced.
A birth de-briefing clinic for women who have had difficult labours to help them
understand their birth experience has been set up.
Guidelines and a pathway have been developed for pregnant women who are expected
to have an induced birth.

A priority over the next twelve months will be to implement findings from a strategic review
of local maternity services that include how we can improve outcomes for pregnant women
and their families as well as culture, efficiency, governance and productivity.
During 2017/18 we will also research the development of community paediatric model of
care providing care for children closer to home, in line with Your Care, Your Future.
Circulation: Over the next 12 months we are working with our partners to redesign an endto end cardiology pathway. This will include developing a plan for GPs to identify patients
with hypertension and atrial fibrillation who are at risk of heart problems and working with
them to minimise their risk; setting up an out of hospital cardiac service to support patients
with heart problems; ensuring patients get the most out of their medication and reducing
duplication and improving efficiency.
Sustainable Development
As a public sector organisation responsible for spending public funds we have an obligation
to work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and
procure healthcare services. Sustainability means using public money wisely, the smart and
efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities. By making
the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the
immediate and long term even in the context of the rising cost of natural resources.
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public
health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction
from a 2013 baseline by 2020.
Herts Valleys CCG’s estimated carbon footprint for this year is 180,671 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent emissions (tCO2e). This calculation has been made using an estimation
of the data for quarter 4, based on the data collected for the same period last year (link to
modelled carbon footprint section of the main report). We have set a 5% reduction target
for 2016/17 against the 2013/14 baseline calculated (link to organisation section of the main
report). Unfortunately, based on the estimated data, this has not been achieved. While our
carbon footprint appears to be increasing, it is not doing so proportionately to the
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increasing population we serve. We have made significant improvements to our carbon
footprint in other areas:






We have reduced our electricity and water use significantly since the 2013/14 baseline
through relocation to more modern and fuel efficient premises, consolidating the
majority of staff on one site and promoting energy and water efficiency to raise staff
awareness. While still slightly higher than the 2013/14 baseline we have significantly
reduced gas consumption over the last 2 years.
We have seen a reduction in the staff commuting distance for the first time in 2016/17
and business travel is reducing, despite increasing staffing numbers.
While recycling rates are lower than last year, they are still higher than the 2013/14
baseline.
We are embedding sustainability through the use of a Sustainable Development Plan
and measure our impact using the Good Corporate Citizen (GCC) tool. We have
increased our GCC score from 29% to 44% this year.

We acknowledge that there are areas for improvement, such as a required reduction in
landfill waste and further reductions to staff travel, mainly due to a significant increase in
staffing numbers since the 2013/14 baseline and we will continue to focus efforts on these
areas. For example, recycling was made the focus of NHS Sustainability Day this year and
we are currently looking at the potential to introduce teleconference facilities to facilitate
more agile working. One of the ways in which an organisation can embded sustainability is
through the use of a Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP). The Board
approved our revised SDMP in January 2016 so our plans for a sustainable future are well
known within the organisation and clearly laid out.
We also recognise that we will need effective contract mechanisms in place to ensure that
our key providers operate in a sustainable manner. However, many of our key providers are
already demonstrating to us that they are becoming more sustainable organisations.
In addition, going forward, the implementation of Your Care, Your Future focuses on helping
people to stay healthy, rather than treating people when they are ill and providing
integrated services in local, modern hubs. We will also continue to explore any potential for
reducing pharmaceuticals waste.
Please follow this link to read our Sustainability Report in full.
Improve quality
We have discharged our duty to improve quality under the Health and Social Care Act 2012
by ensuring that we commission safe and high quality patient care from appropriately
accredited and regulated/approved providers.
This is enhanced through robust quality schedules and Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation schemes (CQUINs) within contracts with all providers including newly
commissioned services and pathways as they are developed e.g. wheelchair services.
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We monitor provider quality through regular contract and quality review meetings. We
review all provider performance reports and challenge poor performance, working
collaboratively with the providers and using contractual levers wherever necessary. We
receive and act on key quality reports such as serious incidents and ‘Never Events’,
complaints and safeguarding reports in order to gain assurance in the processes, outcomes
and learning from these reports, triangulating provider data with soft data about the quality
of care, gathered through patient feedback and quality assurance visits.
We have a crucial role to play in developing and supporting improved quality of care for
people and patient experience among providers of health services in west Hertfordshire.
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections carried out in the past year presented a
picture of improving quality. Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust achieved an improved
rating of “Good”. GP practices are also being inspected by the CQC and to date, those visited
in Herts Valleys, have all been found to be “Good”, with one practice receiving an
“outstanding” rating.
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust moved from an inadequate rating to ‘requires
improvement’. West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust remains in special measures to
ensure that the improvements seen are sustained and built upon to move towards ‘Good’.
The inspection in September 2016, demonstrated the hard work and significant
improvement, with a number of services moving to a ‘Good’ rating, including maternity and
end of life care and critical care, with children’s services retaining their ‘Outstanding’ rating
(see ratings summary below).
Service

2015 Rating

2016 Rating

Medicines

Inadequate

Emergency services

Inadequate

Requires
Improvement
Inadequate

Critical care

Inadequate

Good

Maternity and
gynaecology
End of life

Inadequate

Good

Inadequate

Good

Children and young
people

Outstanding

Outstanding

CQC inspectors again highlighted that staff were found to be caring, compassionate and
kind. The report also highlighted some areas of ‘outstanding practice’ and commended the
continued improvements in mortality rates at West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust; now
in the lowest 15 trusts in the country.
The report did however highlight a number of areas that remain challenged, including
Accident and Emergency services and Simpson Ward at Hemel Hempstead Hospital.
During 2016/17, we have worked with West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust to drive
improvement including the following key actions:
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Focussed programme of quality visits to assess improvement and identify remaining
areas for improvement, outcomes shared with NHS Improvement oversight group to
provide additional assurance to all stakeholders
Regular CCG Director of Nursing and Quality to West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Chief Nurse meetings to offer support and discuss progress
Monthly Serious Incident meetings with provider to ensure robust process and
embedding of learning
Combined contract and quality meetings to ensure quality and clinical involvement in
contract monitoring enhanced
Dedicated support from the Deputy Director of Nursing to improve Serious Incident and
complaints governance
A programme of support from CCG Head of Safeguarding Adults to support and upskill
staff, with a particular focus on Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty
Support for maternity improvements from the HVCCG children and maternity
commissioning team including :
o Development of multi-agency pathways,
o Establishing local maternity system establishment in line with Sustainability and
Transformation Plan
o Led bid for community perinatal team
o Rebranding of MSLC to Mothers Voices Partnership to ensure a more robust focus on
the mother’s experience.
Support to improve communications with GPs re breast two week wait
Enhanced quality schedule in 2017/18 contract to support areas for improvement
identified in CQC report
Joint Quality Innovation Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) Board established to align
plans for transformation
Enhanced oversight of quality improvement plan at CCG Quality and Performance
Committee.

We will continue to work with West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust and in collaboration
with NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSI) to drive further improvements through the
follow actions:






Continue to monitor and challenge progress with the quality improvement plan progress
and the progress against WHHT’s quality strategy at the monthly quality review
meetings.
Continue with the programme of quality assurance visits which will be focussed on the
areas identified by the CQC as requiring improvement, with a key focus on emergency
department safety and quality and Simpson Ward, Hemel Hospital
Leadership of the system-wide approach to improve the performance in emergency care
Continue to engage and support the NHSI oversight meetings. Close working between
Herts Valleys CCG and NHSI is being established to ensure that monitoring arrangements
are closely aligned, to enhance assurance and reduce the burden of reporting on the
trust.
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We have also seen significant quality improvements in a number of other areas during
2016/17. These have included improved referral to treatment times at the Royal Free
Hospital NHS Trust, robust clinical harm reviews for delayed patients, considerable
improvements around engagement in the National Staff Survey and achievement of the
High Sheriff of Hertfordshire award for the Community Navigator scheme.
Significant changes have been made within Herts Valleys CCG to ensure that quality remains
a key focus during our challenging financial times. We have established robust scrutiny of all
CCG QIPP plans and investment/disinvestment decisions, including a quality check and
challenge of all investment committee decisions by the Director of Nursing and the Medical
Director, assessing short, medium and long term risks. We have also revised our Equality
and Quality impact assessment with oversight at the Quality and Performance Committee.
The Continuing Healthcare (CHC) service within the CCG has also received a renewed focus
to improve the quality of the service provided to the residents of west Hertfordshire with a
primary health need that deems them eligible for CHC funding. The service is now fully
recruited to all clinical posts, all outstanding reviews have been undertaken during January
to March 2017 and an improved fast track referral process is in place to ensure those people
who are rapidly deteriorating are well supported. An improvement plan to continue to drive
positive change has also been developed, with oversight at the Quality and Performance
Committee.
We have been working to improve and expand our offer of Personal Health Budgets (PHB)
during 2016/17. In line with the published CCG Personal Health Budget Local Offer we
continue to improve our offer of PHBs to both adults eligible for Continuing Healthcare and
Continuing Care for children as well as raising awareness of PHB and the benefits for people
and their carers.
During the year patients have been sharing their experiences of our services at the
beginning of our Board meetings held in public. In June 2016 a local and carer for his wife
told the Board a very positive story about his experiences being the holder of his wife’s
Personal Health Budget (PHB). He shared how holding a PHB had made significant
improvements to the quality of life for both the patient and carer.
We document and log all patient stories that are shared with our Board. Compliments are
shared with the appropriate staff member and actions that are needed are recorded and
followed up by the relevant lead within the CCG to ensure they are implemented. All actions
are then reported to our Quality and Performance Committee on a quarterly basis to
demonstrate how we learn from the experiences of our patients, service users and carers.
We have been working with NHS England to pilot Personal Wheelchair Budgets. This was
piloted within 2016/17 and now forms part of the wheelchair service specification with
budgets to be routinely offered throughout 2017/18. The PHB team are also supporting the
implementation of PHB within Transforming Care services as well as supporting the
development of an integrated personal budget policy for children and young people across
Hertfordshire.
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In addition we were successful in applying to become an Integrated Personal Commissioning
site. This ambitious programme is led by NHS England and is a collaborative programme
with East and North Herts CCG and Hertfordshire County Council. This programme will
support the expansion of PHB as well as supporting integrated funding to empower people
with long term conditions to take more control over their lives and support. This programme
will be coproduced with residents and will offer support to local voluntary and community
organisations to deliver on this important agenda.
We were also pleased to see that at the end of the year the rate of C. difficile in west
Hertfordshire remains below the average for East of England and the national rate. This
reflects the good infection control practices within NHS and private care providers locally.
As we move into 2017/18, we are continuing to enhance the oversight of quality and safety
in west Hertfordshire. As part of the implementation plan to address the recommendations
of the Board capability and capacity review there will be a refocusing of the Quality and
Performance Committee to separate out Quality and Finance and Performance into
separate committees with a clearly articulated assurance and escalation flow. This will
enable the separate agendas to receive the proper level of attention and scrutiny from the
Board representatives.
Public Engagement
We involve the public in planning, decision-making and proposals for change that will
impact on individual or groups and how health services are provided to them.
We do this in many and varied ways in line with the actions contained in our Participation
Plan which was agreed by our Board back in 2014, reporting regularly to our Patient and
Public Involvement (PPI) Committee and developing further our well-established model for
involving local people. This means that people can work with us in a number of different
ways including receiving our newsletters, attending events, becoming a patient
representative on a committee, representing their locality as a member of our PPI
Committee (that reports directly to our Board) or as a member of our reader panel –
checking that the information we provide is in plain English and easy to read.
We had a full programme of engagement events throughout the year, including many Your
Care, Your Future conversation events. Our Planned and Primary Care network and our
West Herts Practice Patient Group (PPG) network events have also proved popular and
informative. We have also been working with our PPG network to develop a way that
members can easily share information and have discussions within their local area and
across west Hertfordshire and we are now piloting the online discussion facility - Yammer to deliver this project.
In May 2016 we worked with NHS England to engage and consult with patients and the local
community on future plans for patients of New Surgery, Tring following the retirement of its
single-handed GP. The consultation received 646 separate responses. Following a review of
these responses together with an equality and health inequality analysis report a decision
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was made by the CCG and NHS England to support contracting a GP provider to continue to
provide services at The New Surgery.
We engaged with patients and stakeholders on the future of inpatient beds at Gossoms End
(as part of west Herts’ community bed review) and also on changes to NHS funded IVF
cycles. We also engaged with patients and local people on the future of Meadowell GP
Practice in Watford which opened in 2003 to offer improved access to GP services for
homeless and disadvantaged people in the Watford and Three Rivers area. The recommissioning of the contract gave us an opportunity for people to let us know what they
thought about the current service before the tender document was developed. The
engagement included a ‘drop in session’ at the practice for face to face discussions.
Responses from all our engagement activities are considered and taken into account by the
appropriate CCG committee before making a decision.
Senior representatives from Herts Valleys CCG and West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
have actively engaged with the democratic process of local authorities through council
meetings, scrutiny committees and meetings of health and wellbeing boards. This
engagement is ongoing and wide ranging covering areas including Your Care, Your Future
proposals and integrated health and social care.
In line with our participation plan we have expanded our PPI Committee development
sessions to include our patient locality groups. This enables patient representatives to
become better informed about the NHS and its services and to become stronger influencers
within their own networks. We have also delivered a second ‘getting to know the NHS’
session for patients who would like to get involved but find the NHS difficult to find their
way around because of its complexities.
We have also continued to develop our west Herts practice patient group network. Building
on the aim to share best practice and establish clear communication channels we have
developed a yammer site to enable increased and informal communication with this
broadening number of local people.
In addition to the formal business side of the meeting, our Annual General Meeting that
took place in September 2016 was well attended by patients, local community groups and
other stakeholders and featured market stalls, interactive exercise and a staff awards
ceremony.
If you would like to find out more about getting involved with Herts Valleys CCG visit our
website www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk or email heather.aylward@hertsvalleysccg
Reducing health inequality
A key challenge for Herts Valleys CCG is ensuring all our local communities experience
equitable health outcomes across our population. We continuously monitor and analyse the
impact of our policies and programmes on different protected groups in the community and
carry out evidence-based service reviews. As an organisation we work with partners
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including Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board (see below) to address the wider
determinants of health.
When redesigning/developing new services our aim is to improve health outcomes and the
experiences of patients, carers, communities and the workforce through effective and
efficient commissioning, partnership working and good governance. In order to fully
understand the needs of our population an analysis is undertaken supported by Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) data and a gap analysis of current service provision and
where possible qualitative data from service users and providers. As part of this process
inequalities are identified and addressed in both the associated business case and service
specification which includes the outcomes needed to be achieved to reduce inequalities.
New/redesigned services are developed evaluating best practice models. Equality and
quality impact assessments (EQIAs) are undertaken as part of a new service business case
and inform the decision making process.
In August 2015 we commissioned a service from general practice to deliver a proactive and
preventative approach to patient care. The aim is to improve health outcomes and support
patients to self-manage their long term conditions including atrial fibrillation, COPD, asthma
and diabetes. A key aspect of this service is to actively identify high-risk patients, using
innovative methods to engage with hard to reach groups.
In 2015/16, 56% of our at-risk population for atrial fibrillation were diagnosed and treated
with an anti-coagulant which has resulted in an increase in prevalence from 1.53% to 1.64%
In response to a need for primary care access for vulnerable patients including homeless
and are from a hard to reach population, the CCG is re-procuring primary medical service to
support this population (approximately 600 patients) to improve their health and wellbeing
outcomes.
In 2016/17 we proactively incentivised GPs to identify carers and offer annual health checks
and flu immunisations and signpost them to local groups or organisations who can support
them further. Some practices also offered flexible appointments and advice surgeries for
their Carers.
We are supporting a strategic shift to bring care closer to home for our patients; the new
models of care which will support this are integrated where appropriate with social care
services leading to a more coordinated management of individuals and better outcomes for
patients. See our section on Your Care, Your Future earlier in this report for details of new
models of care.
Safeguarding our vulnerable residents
Safeguarding adults
We work alongside our partner agencies to identify and prevent of all forms of abuse and
neglect so that everyone is able to make a full and positive contribution to society within
Hertfordshire.
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This year, in addition to providing training to GPs and Practice Nurses on adult safeguarding,
we organised conferences for GPs covering subjects such as the Mental Capacity Act,
Prevent and domestic abuse. We have also undertaken activities to increase public
awareness and engagement of adult safeguarding that include developing a safeguarding
adult app.
In 2017/18 we will be continuing our training, chairing Hertfordshire’s Mental Capacity
Forum where we will share best practice and innovations and will work with a number of
other groups and panels to ensure that we play an active role in protecting adults at risk of
harm.
Safeguarding children
Children have the right to be protected from being hurt and neglected, physically or
emotionally, and to be enabled to develop as healthy individuals. Safeguarding children is a
priority for us and there is a sustained commitment to minimising the risk of physical, sexual
or emotional harm to all children and young people in Hertfordshire. Our Director of
Nursing and Quality is a member of the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board
(HSCB). This means we can make sure that we work with partners to constantly improve the
outcomes for children across Hertfordshire.
This year we have also arranged for GPs and practice staff to receive NHS England funded
courses on female genital mutilation (FGM), honour based violence, forced marriage, Prevent,
child sexual exploitation and domestic abuse. We used an NSPCC commissioned training needs
analysis to identify a need for further training on neglect and early help as well as focusing on
vulnerable groups such as unaccompanied asylum seeking children, children from the travelling
community and those with a disability.
In 2017/18 we have a number of work programmes to deliver including increased compliance
with completion of initial health assessments for looked after children out of county; raising
awareness and producing material and training on neglect; supporting a newly recruited nurse
specialist for looked after children/children leaving care (which is a post part funded by the
CCG and hosted by Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust) and are completing the
development of an FGM care pathway. We contribute to Channel Panel to ensure children and
young people drawn into violent extremist or terrorist behaviour are safeguarded.

Health and wellbeing strategy
Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board
We are a member of Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board. The Health and
Wellbeing Board brings together the NHS, public health, adult social care and children’s
services, including elected representatives and Healthwatch Hertfordshire, to plan how best
to meet the needs of Hertfordshire’s population and tackle local inequalities in health.
In accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012, a number of important matters
included in this annual report have been presented and discussed as agenda items at Health
and Wellbeing Board meetings throughout the year.
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Your Care, Your Future (see section earlier in this report for full details) is a partnership
strategy that fully embraces Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board’s vision of ‘with all
partners working together we aim to reduce health inequalities and improve the health and
wellbeing of people in Hertfordshire’.
The Health and Wellbeing Board’s strategy was refreshed in June 2016 after wide
consultation with stakeholders. The Board has agreed the following principles:








Aim to keep people safe and reduce inequalities in health, attainment and wellbeing
outcomes
Use public health evidence, other comparison information and Hertfordshire citizen’s
views to make sure that we focus on the most significant health and wellbeing needs in
Hertfordshire.
Centre our strategies on people, their families and carers, providing services universally
but giving priority to the most vulnerable.
Focus on preventative approaches – helping people and communities to support each
other and prevent problems from occurring for individuals and families in the future.
Always consider what we can do better together – focussing our efforts on adding value
as partners to maximise the benefits for the public.
Encourage opportunities to integrate our services to improve outcomes and value for
taxpayers.

Your Care, Your Future has contributed fully to each of these principles and will continue to
do so as the Health and Wellbeing Board’s strategy is delivered across four life themes:
 Starting Well
 Developing Well
 Living Well and
 Working Well and Ageing Well
The refreshed priorities for 2016/2020 are as follows:
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Starting Well

Developing Well

Narrowing the gap
across localities

Improved mental health
and wellbeing in children
(CAHMS)
Narrowing the gap in
terms of outcomes
across localities
Identifying the
‘vulnerable children and
families’
Improving looked after
children outcomes

Perinatal mental health

School readiness

Identifying the
‘vulnerable children
and families’
Improving looked after
children outcomes

Living Well, Working
Well
Increasing activity levels

Ageing Well

Reducing obesity levels

Reducing preventable
winter deaths

Reducing falls

Reducing preventable
disability

Improving activity and
reducing frailty levels
in older people
Improving mental health Reducing social
prevention and resilience isolation

Signed

Kathryn Magson
Accountable Officer
30 May 2017
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Accountability Report
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Corporate Governance Report
Members’ report
Member practices
For the period 1 April to 30 September 2016 there were 69 member practices in Herts
Valleys CCG. On 1 October 2016 Holywell and Attenborough practices merged to form a
single practice.
The 68 member practices are arranged into the four localities of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St
Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these localities has a Locality
Committee which is made up of representatives from member practices. The Locality
Committees provide our Board with advice and is informed by CCG members within each
locality whilst recognising the importance of local knowledge and expertise to allow the CCG
to discharge its functions successfully. The Locality Committees are jointly accountable to
member practices and linked with each locality and the Board.
Our Member practices are:
Dacorum practices (20)
 Archway Surgery
 Bennetts End Surgery
 Boxwell Road Surgery
 Coleridge House Medical Centre
 Everest House Surgery
 Fernville Surgery
 Gossoms End Surgery
 Grovehill Medical Centre
 Haverfield Surgery
 Highfield Surgery
 Kings Langley and Bovingdon Surgeries
 Lincoln House Surgery
 Manor Street Surgery
 Markyate Surgery
 Milton House Surgery
 New Surgery
 Parkwood Surgery
 Rothschild House Surgery
 West Herts Medical Centre
 Woodhall Farm Medical Centre
St Albans and Harpenden practices (13)
 Davenport House Surgery
 Dr Sinha, 61 Hatfield Road
 Elms Medical Practice

Hertsmere practices (9)
 Annandale Surgery
 Fairbrook Medical Centre
 Grove Medical Centre
 Highview Medical Centre
 Little Bushey Surgery
 Parkfield Medical Centre
 Red House Group
 Schopwick Surgery
 Theobald Medical Centre

Watford and Three Rivers practices (26)
 Abbotswood Medical Centre
 Attenborough Surgery
 Baldwins Lane Surgery
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Grange Street Surgery
Harvey Group Practice
Health Centre, Redbourn
Lattimore Surgery
Lodge Surgery
Maltings Surgery
Midway Surgery
Parkbury House
Verulam Medical Group
Village Surgery

























Callowland Surgery
Cassio Surgery – Dr Watson
Cassio Surgery – Dr Gujral
Cassio Surgery – Dr Robson
Cassio Surgery – Dr Reuben
Chorleywood Health Centre
Coach House Surgery
Colne House Surgery
Consulting Rooms
Elms Surgery
Gade Surgery
Garston Medical Centre
Health Inclusion Matters (Meadowell)
Manor View Practice
New Road Surgery
Park End Surgery
Pathfinder Practice
Sheepcot Medical Centre
South Oxhey Surgery
Suthergrey House Medical Centre
Tudor Surgery
Upton Road Surgery
Vine House Health Centre

Governing Body (Board) composition
The Governing Body (known as “the Board”) included a GP Chair, four Lay Members, a
secondary care consultant, seven other GP elected members, an Accountable Officer, a
Chief Finance Officer and a Director of Nursing and Quality in the financial year of 2016/17.
Also in attendance at Board meetings, without voting rights, were the Medical Director, the
Director of Workforce, the Director of Contracts and Resilience, the Associate Director of
Communications and Engagement, the Head of Corporate Governance, a patient
representative and a representative of Healthwatch Hertfordshire.
Keith Hodge, an elected member of the Board for Dacorum, resigned his position as Board
member on 31 December 2016. The position is currently vacant.
Appointment and roles
The names and roles of Board members are as follows:
 Chair – Nicolas Small (GP Hertsmere) (elected to 31 March 2020)
 Deputy Chair, Lay Member – Stuart Bloom, (Quality and Performance Committee Chair)
(appointed for a four year period to 31 March 2017, renewed to 31 March 2018)
 Lay Member – Paul Smith (Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee Chair)
(appointed for a four year period to 31 March 2017, renewed to 31 March 2019)
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Lay Member – Alison Gardner (Patient and Public Involvement Committee Chair)
appointed for a four period to 31 March 2017, renewed to 31 March 2019)
Lay Member – Thelma Stober (Primary Care Joint Commissioning Committee Chair)
(appointed 1 August 2015 for a four year term to 31 July 2019)
Secondary Care Consultant – Thida Win (appointed 1 June 2016)
Deputy Lead Clinician -–Trevor Fernandes GP Elected Member (Dacorum) (until 31 March
2020)
GP Elected Member - Keith Hodge (Dacorum) (Resigned 31 December 2016)
GP Elected Member- Mike Edwards (Hertsmere) (until 31 March 2018)
GP Elected Member - Richard Pile (St Albans and Harpenden) (until 31 March 2020)
GP Elected Member - Mike Walton (St Albans and Harpenden) (until 31 March 2018)
GP Elected Member - Rami Eliad (Watford and Three Rivers) (until 31 March 2020)
GP Elected Member - Clair Moring (Watford and Three Rivers) (until 31 March 2018)
Accountable Officer – Nicola Bell, Executive Board Member (until 22 April 2016)
Accountable Officer (interim) – Cameron Ward (from 22 April 2016, until 15 March 2017)
Chief Executive Officer – Kathryn Magson (from 16 March 2017)
Chief Finance Officer – Alan Warren, Executive Board Member (until 26 September 2016)
Chief Finance Officer – Caroline Hall, Executive Board Member (from 26 September 2016)
Director of Nursing and Quality – Diane Curbishley, Executive Board Member

Board Meeting in Public attendances 2016/17
Members
Nicolas Small, Chair
Stuart Bloom, Deputy Chair
Paul Smith, Lay Member
Alison Gardner, Lay Member
Thelma Stober, Lay Member
Thida Win, Secondary Care Consultant
Trevor Fernandes, GP Member
Keith Hodge, GP Member
Mike Edwards, GP Member
Richard Pile, GP Member
Mike Walton, GP Member
Rami Eliad, GP Member
Clair Moring, GP Member
Nicola Bell, Accountable Officer (until 22
April 2016)
Cameron Ward, Interim Accountable Officer
(from 22 April 2016 to 15 March 2017)
Kathryn Magson, Chief Executive Officer
(from 16 March 2017)
Alan Warren, Chief Finance Officer (until 30
September 2016)

Number of Board
meetings in post for
7
7
7
7
7
6
7
5
7
7
7
7
7
1

Number of Board
meetings attended
7
6
5
6
6
5
6
3
6
7
6
6
7
1

7

6

0

0

3

2
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Members
Caroline Hall, Chief Finance Officer (from 1
October 2016)
Diane Curbishley, Director of Nursing and
Quality

Number of Board
meetings in post for
4

Number of Board
meetings attended
3

7

6

Board committees
The Board committee structure included six committees during 2016-17: the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Quality and Performance Committee, Patient and
Public Involvement Committee, Joint Primary Medical Services Commissioning Committee
and Investment Committee.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee supports the Board in discharging its functions relating to economy,
efficiency and effectiveness and governance. The Committee reviews the systems of
governance, risk management and internal control. The members of the Audit Committee
are
 Paul Smith (Committee Chair) Lay Member
 Stuart Bloom Lay Member
 Alison Gardner Lay Member
 Keith Hodge GP Board member (to 31 December 2016)
 Daniel Carlton-Conway St Albans and Harpenden Locality Chair (member of
committee from 1 January 2017)
 Rami Eliad GP Board Member
Please refer to the Remuneration Report for details of the Remuneration Committee and
the Governance Statement for details of and membership of all other Board and
Membership Body Committees.
Personal data related incidents
There have been no personal data incidents reported to the information commissioner in
2016/17.
Register of interests
All registers of interest can be found at the following address
http://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/managing-conflicts-of-interest
Auditor disclosures
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:



so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditor is unaware; that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report,
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him
or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditor is aware of it.
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Modern Slavery Act
Herts Valleys CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery
and human trafficking but does not trigger the requirements for producing an annual
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Kathryn Magson to be the
Accountable Officer of Herts Valleys CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:









The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer
is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts
Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
 Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting
Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and
explain any material departures in the financial statements; and,
 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and
in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:




as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that
I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.
that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the
judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

SIGNED

Kathryn Magson
Accountable Officer
30 May 2017
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Annual governance statement
Introduction and context
Herts Valleys CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The
CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to
such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local
population.
As at 31 March 2017, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any
directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health
Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies,
aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in
Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my clinical commissioning group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning
group as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the Board is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
The Board has delegated authority from member practices to undertake the full range
of functions required of the CCG. The member practices (listed in the Members’ report)
meet twice a year at the GP Forum and receive feedback from the Board and are able to
raise questions of Board members. There are also a number of decisions that have been
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reserved to the members and these include: changes to the CCG Constitution, for
example, to reflect changes in statutory guidance for conflicts of interest and the move
to delegated primary care commissioning; electing GP members of the Board.
The Board’s focus is on setting vision and strategy, approving commissioning plans and on
corporate and financial governance and risk management. It also ensures that the CCG
meets its statutory and regulatory requirements and operates in line with its approved
Constitution (NHS England is the body with ultimate responsibility for approving the CCG’s
Constitution and any changes that the CCG proposes to it). Key functions of the Board
covered in the Constitution are:
a. Ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its
functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the
principles of good governance;
b. Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or
other persons providing services to the CCG and the allowances payable under any
pension scheme that the CCG may establish;
c. Approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations;
d. Leading on setting the CCG’s vision and strategy;
e. Approving commissioning plans including the production of an annual plan;
f. Monitoring performance against plans and producing an annual report;
g. Ensuring that expenditure and use of resources do not exceed the limits set;
h. Providing assurance of strategic risks;
i. Producing an annual report;
j. Oversight of declaration and registration of interests and management of conflicts
of interest;
k. Working with NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England) to improve the quality of
primary medical services, particularly to take account of need and unexpressed
demand;
l. Working with NHS England to improve the quality of specialised services;
m. Working with Hertfordshire County Council in respect of Local Authority public health
services as well as being a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
A record of Board meeting attendance can be found in the Members’ report.
Highlights of the work of the CCG Board during the year are as follows:







Development of CCG strategic objectives and key risks to achievement;
Approval of the 5 year Primary Care Implementation Plan, developed to embed the
principles of the Your Care, Your Future Strategic Review into Primary Care;
Driving progress on redesigned clinical pathways;
Approval of the assurance framework for the multi-provider pathway collaborative,
including the requirements sought from co-ordinating providers and the structure
for delivering outcomes-based commissioning;
Approve of the palliative end of life care strategy for adults and children that sets
out the CCG’s ambitions for the next 5 years;
Approval of the preferred provider for the integrated urgent care service;
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Implementation of the investment committee;
Development and oversight of the financial recovery plan;
Reviews of quality and provider performance;
Reviews of financial performance;
Approval of the revised CCG constitution.

In quarter 4 of 2016/2017, an external capacity and capability review was commissioned by
NHS England. Observations and recommendations were reported to the Chief Executive
Officer at the end of March 2017 under the following headings: financial position and
recovery plan; governance and processes; leadership capability and capacity. The table
below summarises these recommendations.
Recommendations from the external capacity and capability review.
1. Financial position and recovery plan
1.1
Further work is required to improve the triangulation of QIPP reporting and acute
activity and contract performance reporting.
1.2
The CCG should undertake a bottom up review of community services provided to
identify the benchmark cost, efficiency and service redesign opportunities
including areas of historic investment, notably Rapid Response and community
inpatient beds.
1.3
The CCG must develop a single FY18 financial recovery plan which is underpinned
by a 2- year financial model. It should be signed off by the CCG and monitored
through the CCG’s financial governance processes.
2. Governance and processes
2.1
Introduce shorter, focused Board meetings held in private in the alternative
months.
2.2
Re-focus the Quality and Performance Committee and the Investment Committee
to have a Quality Committee and a Finance and Performance Committee with
terms of reference that clearly articulate the assurance and escalation flows
to/from operational groups and other committees.
2.3
Introduce greater use of deep dives to provide assurance to Board Committees
and the
Board.
2.4
Develop and implement a Disinvestment and Decommissioning Policy, which
includes the role of different committees and groups in terms of decision-making,
assurance and performance monitoring, and specifies clear lines of
communication.
2.5
Focus the committee reports to Board on assurance with respect to the risks to the
strategic objectives and highlighting emerging issues.
2.6
Restate the role of the Board and committees in relation to the Board Assurance
Framework (BAF). Accompany this with development work to support committee
chairs in their understanding of the BAF and its use in committees, to consider the
extent and coverage of assurances being received in the context of the CCG’s
strategic risks.
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2.7

Address the areas for improvement in board and committee administration,
including joint agenda-setting, summarising actions and the quality and timeliness
of papers.
2.8
Clarify the purpose, roles and responsibilities of the key operational committees.
2.9
Introduce a formal performance management framework with clear
responsibilities and arrangements for holding to account in all aspects of the
CCG’s activities including finance, QIPP, quality, performance and workforce.
2.10
Update job descriptions and roles for those who undertake key contracting
responsibilities within the CCG.
2.11
Urgently consider strengthening the business intelligence (BI) function and
produce a coherent plan for how this function supports the CCG going forward.
2.12
Urgently review how the PMO can support driving the QIPP delivery process going
forward.
3. Leadership Capability and Capacity
3.1
Consider reducing the number of regular attendees for the whole Board meeting
to create room for greater contribution amongst participants and value adding
challenge.
3.2
Enhance the Board development programme by focusing on team building and
supporting the Board’s journey towards becoming an assurance based unitary
board. This should include opportunities for informal time together, planned
exposure to CCG and locality teams, and coupled by improved interaction
between committee chairs and relevant executive directors.
3.3
Undertake formalised succession planning for board positions, including a more
systematic consideration of future skills needs, aligned to the strategic priorities.
3.4
Review and clarify roles and portfolios of the executive team, including the role of
deputy accountable officer.
3.5
Introduce an executive team development programme to complement the Board
development programme that focuses on the approach to team working and
reflects the needs of both new and experienced executive directors.
3.6
Clarify the role of the localities, the locality chairs, and the chief locality officers
and develop an accountability framework that clearly specifies the roles and
responsibilities of locality and corporate teams and can be used to hold teams to
account for the performance of the CCG.
Recommendations arising from a further external review of the CCG’s governance
arrangements in April 2017 will also inform key actions for improvement that are to be
taken forward. A group of Board and Executive Team members has drawn up an action plan
to implement all recommendations at pace. One plan will cover the capacity and capability
review and the output of the governance review, with one suite of actions to address
issues such as: people and leadership; performance, accountability and holding to
account; capacity and capability gaps identified in business intelligence, finance and
contracting; governance; Your Care, Your Future with a particular focus on new models of
care, Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and primary care; finance and financial
turnaround; risk management. The table on page 81 of this document summarises the
improvement plan.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee supports the Board to discharge its functions relating to economy,
efficiency and effectiveness, and governance. The committee reviews the systems of
governance, risk management and internal control.
The Audit Committee provides the Board with an independent and objective view of
financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and
directions relating to finance, and maintenance of an effective system of governance, risk
management and internal control. The Committee does this with the input and support
of internal and external auditors.
The Audit Committee does not allow deputies to attend meetings on behalf of Committee
members.
Audit Committee attendances 2016/17
Members

Paul Smith (Committee Chair)
Lay Member
Stuart Bloom
Lay Member
Alison Gardner
Lay Member
Keith Hodge (until 31 December 2016)
GP Board Member
Daniel Carlton-Conway St Albans and
Harpenden Locality Chair (member of
committee from 1 January 2017)
Rami Eliad
GP Board Member

Number of meetings in
post for

Number of meetings
attended

5

5

5

5

5

4

3

3

2

1

5

2

Key areas of focus for the Audit Committee in 2016/17 have included:





Review of provisions around gifts, hospitality and commercial sponsorship,
including the decision to publish the gifts and hospitality register;
Review of provisions around the management of conflicts of interest (COI),
ensuring that this is in line with best practice and NHS England’s latest
statutory guidance. Improving completeness and quality of registers and
the decision to publish all declarations. Emerging areas to be addressed
include giving greater visibility of COI management at locality level from
April 2017;
Approval and monitoring the implementation of the internal audit strategy,
including: agreement of revisions and additions to the audit plan for
2016/17; driving improvements in management responses; and agreeing the
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internal audit strategy and plan for 2017/18.
Review of the updated CCG decision register at regular intervals, including
reporting on how conflicts of interest were managed and approving publication
of the decision register;
Approval of Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16;
Formation of an auditor panel for decisions on internal and external auditor
procurements;
Promoting and monitoring improvement of decision-making processes, including
the development of work around business critical models;
Monitoring the implementation of the counter fraud work plan;
Approval of the Whistleblowing Policy and monitoring its implementation and
operation;
Requesting assurance and overseeing improvements to reporting on key areas
such as integrated commissioning, partnership arrangements and continuing
healthcare;
Approval of Risk Management Strategy and Procedure, including both
improvements to oversight by the Board and its committees and further
embedding of processes at directorate level;
In-depth reviews of individual risks on the Board Assurance Framework
and the Corporate Risk Register, targeted at key current and emerging
concerns.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board about the
remuneration, fees and other allowances for staff and other persons providing services to
the CCG.
The Remuneration Committee approves the performance appraisal regime for the CCG’s
very senior managers.
The Remuneration Committee does not allow deputies to attend meetings on behalf
of Committee members.
Remuneration Committee attendances 2016/17
Members
Paul Smith (Committee Chair)
Lay Member
Alison Gardner
Lay Member (until 31 May 2016)
Thelma Stober
Lay Member (from 4 August 2016)
Mike Edwards
GP Board Member

Number of meetings in
post for
4

Number of meetings
attended
4

1

1

3

2

4

3
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Key areas of focus for the Remuneration Committee in 2016/17 have included:





Approval of remuneration packages for key senior posts;
Approval of a small number of redundancy payments;
Review of the outcomes of Board and Very Senior Manager appraisals;
Review of off payroll payments.

Patient and Public Involvement Committee
The Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) Committee provides the Board with assurance
that there is meaningful participation in the business of the CCG from patients, carers,
families and members of public across the CCG’s locality areas. Its role includes the
review of strategies and proposals to offer views from the patients’ perspective.
Patient and Public Involvement Committee attendances
Members
Alison Gardner (Committee Chair)
Lay Member
Richard Pile
GP Board Member
(until 15 September 2016)
Juliet Rodgers
Associate Director, Communications and
Engagement
Mike Walton
GP Board Member
(from 19 October 2016)
Caroline Sutherland
Patient Representative - Hertsmere
Robert Hillyard
Patient Representative - Hertsmere
Gavin Ross
Patient Representative - St Albans and
Harpenden
John Wigley
Chair St Albans and Harpenden Patient
Group
Helen Clothier
Patient Representative - St Albans and
Harpenden
Colin Barry
Patient Representative - Watford and
Three Rivers

Number of meetings in
post for
6

Number of meetings
attended
6

3

1

6

5

3

1

6

6

6

4

6

6

6

5

6

6

6

5
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Members
Margaret Morgan
Patient Representative - Dacorum
Gordon Yearwood
Patient Representative - Dacorum
Kevin Minier, Chair Dacorum Patient
Group

Number of meetings in
post for
6

Number of meetings
attended
2

3

1

The PPI Committee does not allow deputies to attend meetings on behalf of Committee
members.
Key areas of focus for the PPI Committee in 2016/17 have included:





Monitoring the implementation of the CCG’s Patient Participation Plan;
Input into specific service redesigns, procurements and QIPP schemes;
Progress against Your Care, Your Future;
Review of CCG financial situation.

Quality and Performance Committee
The role of the Quality and Performance Committee is to oversee the integrated
governance arrangements for the effective discharge of the CCG’s functions with
particular focus on quality, performance and finance. The Committee has delegated
responsibility for assuring the Board in relation to the following:














Contract Performance;
Risk Management;
Quality, Clinical Effectiveness and Health Improvement;
Information Governance and Freedom of Information Act;
Patient Safety and Experience;
Equality and Diversity;
Serious Incidents, Complaints and PALS;
Infection Control;
Health and Safety;
Human Resources and Organisational Development;
Safeguarding;
Finance;
Clinical Programmes.

The Quality and Performance Committee allows deputies to attend meetings on behalf
of Executive Director Members.
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Quality and Performance Committee attendances
Members
Stuart Bloom (Committee Chair)
Lay Member
Charles Allan
Director of Contracting and Resilience
Diane Curbishley
Director of Nursing and Quality
Trevor Fernandes
GP Board Member
Alison Gardner
Lay Member
Thida Win
Secondary Care Consultant to the Board
Clair Moring
GP Board Member
Richard Pile
GP Board Member
Alan Warren, Chief Finance Officer (until
30 September 2016)
Caroline Hall, Chief Finance Officer (from
1 October 2016)

Number of meetings in
post for
11

Number of meetings
attended
10

11

9

11

9

11

10

11

10

10

5

11

10

11

8

5

5

6

6

Key areas of focus for the Quality and Performance Committee in 2016/17 have included:







Review of the Quality Alert System;
Monitoring of performance against QIPP plans and discussing proposals for new
plans;
Learning from serious incidents and never events;
Monitoring provider performance and progress against recovery improvement
plans;
Monitoring actions to address quality concerns, for example, in relation to
community beds and health checks for looked after children;
Understanding the reasons for variation from financial plan and driving solutions.

Joint Primary Medical Services Commissioning Committee
The role of the Joint Committee is to carry out the functions relating to the
commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act except those
relating to individual GP performance management, which have been reserved to NHS
England.
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This includes the following activities:








General Medical Services (GMS), Personal Medical Services (PMS) and
Alternative Provider Medical Services (APMS) contracts (including the design of
PMS and APMS contracts, monitoring of contracts, taking contractual action
such as issuing branch/remedial notices, and removing a contract);
Newly designed enhanced services (both “Local Enhanced Services” and
“Directed Enhanced Services”);
Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality Outcomes
Framework (QOF);
Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area;
Approving practice mergers, retirements, closures and terminations; and
Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g. returner/retainer schemes).

The Joint Primary Medical Services Commissioning Committee allows deputies to attend
meetings on behalf of Executive Director Members.
Joint Primary Medical Services Committee attendances
Members

Thelma Stober
Committee Chair and Lay Member
Alison Gardner
Lay Member
Cameron Ward
Interim Accountable Officer (until 15
March 2017)
David Buckle
Medical Director
Dominic Cox
Locality Director, NHS England, Central
Midlands
Diane Curbishley
Director of Nursing and Quality
Alan Warren
Chief Finance Officer (until 30 September
2016)
Caroline Hall
Chief Finance Officer (from 1 October
2016)
Mike Edwards
Board GP Member
Trevor Fernandes
Board GP Member

Number of meetings in
post for

Number of meetings
attended

6

6

6

6

5

3

6

4

6

5

6

5

3

3

3

0

6

6

6

5
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Members

Clair Moring
Board GP Member
Richard Pile
Board GP Member (member of committee
until 15 September 2016)
Mike Walton
Board GP Member (member of committee
from 13 October 2016)
Paul Smith
Lay Member
Kathryn Magson (from 16 March 2017)
Chief Executive Officer

Number of meetings in
post for

Number of meetings
attended

6

6

4

2

6

3

6

0

1

1

Key areas of focus for the Joint Commissioning Committee in 2016/17 have included:
 Cascading of information about the Estates and Technology Transformation Fund
(ETTF): a central fund to allow GP practices to bid for improvements in
premises and technology;
 APMS contract procurements;
 Taking actions to increase capacity in primary care;
 Preparing for delegated primary care commissioning;
 Improving the GP practice resilience programme, a menu of support for practices
to make them more sustainable, resilient and able to meet future challenges;
 Approving the GP forward view plan (GPFVP) as an addendum to the operational
plan for 2017/18. The GPFVP will support and develop delivery of the national
GPFV which is the NHS vision for primary care to be the cornerstone of an
integrated, community-shaped healthcare service.
Investment committee
In response to the CCG being formally placed in financial turnaround, the investment
committee was approved by the CCG Board, alongside terms of reference and
committee criteria on 24 November 2016.
The role of the committee is to review and assess potential service investments and
disinvestments in line with the CCG’s strategy. This includes assessing business cases
focusing on the return on investment and value for money to improve health and reduce
health inequalities.
Committee membership comprises two lay members, two Board GPs, the Accountable
Officer and the Chief Finance Officer.

61

Investment Committee attendances
Members
Paul Smith
Committee Chair and Lay Member
Thelma Stober
Lay Member
Cameron Ward
Interim Accountable Officer (until 15
March 2017)
Caroline Hall
Chief Finance Officer
Nicolas Small
CCG Chair
Trevor Fernandes
Board GP Member
Kathryn Magson
Chief Executive Officer (from 16 March
2017)

Number of meetings in
post for
7

Number of meetings
attended
7

7

3

5

5

7

7

7

7

7

7

2

1

Between December and March the committee met 8 times and reviewed around 40
proposals. It was considered timely at this point to review the performance of the
committee and to consider its future role and membership. A survey was circulated to board
members, regular attendees of the board, locality chairs and senior managers who have
experience of the work of the committee. The outcomes are summarised below:
 A number of proposals for changes in membership were made including the addition
of more clinical and executive representation;
 The majority of respondents thought that the committee had been successful to
some extent in considering value for money and return on investment, although
there was room for improvement;
 Most thought that quicker and clearer reporting processes were important;
 The majority of respondents thought that consideration of investments and
disinvestments above £50k was about the right level;
 There is room for improvement in the committee’s effective communication of
decisions;
 Going forward we should use the committee more as a Finance committee so that
investment and disinvestment can be considered in the broader context of our
evolving financial position.
The views expressed have been taken under advisement, together with recommendations
made in the external review of capacity and capability, and proposals for a new finance
committee with a wider remit are being developed.
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Locality Committees
Our 68 member practices are arranged into the four localities of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St
Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these localities has a
Locality Committee which is made up of local General Practitioners. The committees are
responsible for ensuring the Board is informed by the members of the clinical
commissioning group and that local knowledge is fed into the decision making process of
the group. They are also responsible for ensuring that members have the opportunity to
contribute to the development of policy and commissioning strategy.
Locality Committees are also responsible for the following:









Advising the Board of localities’ priorities;
Advising members in the locality of the work of the committees;
Consulting with members in the locality on behalf of the Board where
requested to do so or otherwise appropriate;
Supporting the Board in delivering the objectives of the CCG;
Supporting members of the locality to engage with the CCG;GP, Practice and
patient engagement;
Participation and engagement with other localities on the development of the
CCG’s commissioning plans;
Development of locality commissioning plans, within the overall context of the
CCG’s overall plans;
Participation in the development of clinical pathways in accordance with
best practice.

An internal audit of localities governance and engagement took place in March 2017 and
reviewed: the level of engagement with locality groups; the robustness of locality
governance structures and how well they are aligned to key CCG governance structures;
involvement of locality groups in the development of commissioning strategies and plans;
and the robustness of performance reporting at locality level. Two medium level actions
have been recommended, including the timely review of terms of reference for one locality
that was overdue and the need for locality risks to be a standing item on all locality
commissioning committee agendas. The full report has not yet been shared.

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS bodies are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code.
However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon
best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we
consider to be relevant to the clinical commissioning group and best practice.
The CCG’s corporate governance includes:
 Clear division of responsibilities between the Chair of the Board and the
Accountable Officer of the CCG;
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 Committees of the Board comprised a balance of skills, knowledge, independence
and experience in order for them to be able to carry out their duties effectively;
 Information provided to the Board and its Committees in a timely manner and
of sufficient quality to enable the CCG to discharge its functions;
 Board assessment of the nature and extent of the significant risks it was willing to take
in order to deliver its strategic objectives and managed these through its sound
systems of risk management and internal control;
 Remuneration Committee had oversight of the arrangements for remunerating
members of the Board;
 Annual committee reviews of effectiveness.

Discharge of statutory functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group
has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a
result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. An
external review of the CCG’s capability and capacity to undertake all of its statutory duties
was commissioned by NHS England in quarter 4 2016/17. This is being followed up by an
external review of governance commissioned by the CCG. A plan of action is being
developed by Executive members in consultation with their Lay and GP colleagues to
address the issues raised in both reviews, as reported above.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
Risk management strategy
During 2016/17 the CCG has further developed its approach to risk management within
the organisation and the risk management strategy and procedure has been updated to
clarify and strengthen arrangements for the monitoring and escalation of risks. The
internal Risk Management Group has continued to heighten awareness that
understanding and managing risk is an everyday part of the CCG’s commissioning
responsibilities. Risk is intrinsic to the provision of healthcare and from the CCG’s
perspective the consequences of the risks inherent in commissioning decisions must be
understood before decisions are made.
The CCG has sought to develop a balanced approach to risk management, recognising the
need to commission safe, efficient and economic services with the desire to innovate and
develop new models of care, reducing inequalities and improving outcomes for patients.
The process in place across the CCG has been led by the Board and cascaded through
Committees, localities, programmes and directorates to individual project leads. The
specific roles of key individuals, including the Head of Corporate Governance as the CCG’s
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executive risk lead and the Risk Manager are clearly defined and known.
Risks are identified through two routes:
•
•

The Board Assurance Framework which assesses and manages the principle
risks associated with the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives.
The Risk Register process which is bottom-up and includes risks identified by all levels
of staff across the CCG. All significant risks are included on the Corporate Risk Register
which is reported to the Board and its Committees. Less significant risks are managed
as part of ‘business as usual’ activity within directorate, programme and project risk
registers and escalated to the corporate risk register as necessary.

Training sessions have been undertaken by the Risk Manager with individuals, directorate
teams, the senior leadership team and the Board to raise awareness about the importance
of effective risk management and explain the policies and procedures relating to risk that
the CCG has in place. Recent sessions have also developed an appreciation of the CCG’s
evolving risk context in a situation of ‘extended enterprise’1 such as the Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP) and discussed the most effective methods of risk management
in this broader context. All of the CCG’s policies and business cases include consideration
of quality and equality impacts.
The CCG engages with its internal auditors and local counter fraud specialists to ensure
that it has an awareness of risks identified elsewhere and to take steps to avoid these
impacting on it. Internal audit advice and support has also been sought in relation to
specific aspects of CCG work, including contracting; the administration of personal health
budgets; continuing healthcare and arrangements with the local authority. Equally, the
CCG has a strong track record in working with health and social care system partners in
west Hertfordshire and is able to share risks and management of them where this is
appropriate, including taking account of the outcome of providers’ clinical audits.
The CCG Executive is assigned overall responsibility for each of the four strategic objectives
areas: i.e. Effective Engagement, High Quality, Transforming Delivery, Affordable and
Sustainable Care. The Executive is responsible for endorsing the CCG’s system of internal
control and ensuring that there is effective management of risk.
The CCG’s Committees are charged with the audit, scrutiny and challenge function in order
to assure the Board that the management processes are efficient and effective.
Board members have a responsibility to review and monitor risks identified through the risk
management framework and to provide an effective level of challenge through debate and
discussion.
1

Institute of Risk Management (2014) Extended Enterprise: Managing risk in complex 21
century organisations, London

st
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Risk leads may be Executive Directors, Managers or Programme Leads and are responsible
for ensuring the risk management processes described in this framework are applied and
reviewed within their areas.
Programme Leads, Managers and Locality Managers are responsible for updating their risk
registers in real time (and no less than monthly) and for making sure that escalation of
issues of concern to the appropriate level takes place.
Embedding risk management
The CCG’s approach is to:




Ensure that all staff are aware of mechanisms to report incidents and near misses;
Ensure that all staff receive the appropriate level of risk management training;
Establish and implement a plan to develop and strengthen the organisation’s
risk management culture and integrated risk management framework.

The Strategy is delivered by focussing on key themes of activity, linking the CCG’s
strategic objectives and agreed local objectives.
Executive Directors, Associate / Assistant Directors, Heads of Service and Managers are
expected:





•





To be clear about the CCG’s priorities;
Promote awareness and understanding of the benefits of proactive risk
management, therefore developing a positive risk and patient safety culture;
Manage risk through their own Directorate structure by identifying, assessing,
controlling, monitoring and reviewing risks in real time (and no less than monthly);
ensuring the controls and action plans are sustainable, effective and fully
implemented;
Distribute and disseminate, to their employees, results of complaints, incidents,
audits and lessons learned;
Support compliance with appropriate legislation and standards. Additionally the CCG:
Drives corporate ownership and accountability throughout the organisation of risk
management and the need to mitigate risk along with the mechanisms for reporting
and sharing learning across the organisation;
Encourages collaboration with commissioning partners and other stakeholders
to develop system risk management across the STP;
Promotes and supports the development and implementation of risk
management policies in general practice;
Provides training and on-going support to ensure that all risks are reported and that
all staff are aware of mechanisms to report incidents and near misses
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Control mechanisms
There are different levels of risk governance in the CCG:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Board
Audit Committee
Quality and Performance Committee
Executive team
Commissioning Executive
Risk Management Group
Locality Committees
Programme groups

The Board is accountable for ensuring that the CCG has an effective programme for
managing all types of risk and reviews risks to the strategic objectives of the CCG. It
receives details of all new high level risk exposures at each formal meeting and reviews the
Board Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register. The CCG executive directors own
all risks on the Board Assurance Framework and the Corporate Risk Register.
In order to verify that risks are being managed appropriately and that the CCG can deliver
its objectives, the Board receives and considers written reports from the Audit Committee,
committees of the Board, as well as the Commissioning Executive and Executive. In
particular, the Board considers risk reduction plans and monitors progress on action plans
on all significant risks.
Prevention of risk
Horizon scanning can identify positive areas for the CCG to develop its business and
services, taking opportunities where these arise. The CCG works collaboratively with
partner organisations and statutory bodies to horizon scan and remain attentive and
responsive to change. By implementing mechanisms to horizon scan the CCG is better able
to respond to changes or emerging issues in a planned structured coordinated way. Issues
identified through horizon scanning should link into and inform the business planning
process. As an approach it should consider on-going risks to commissioned services.
Risk assessment – Herts Valleys CCG profile
Using the risk and control framework, risk assessment is conducted in a systematic manner
across all aspects of the CCG’s strategic and operational goals. The major risks confronting
the organisation are set out below. The risks and the controls applied to them are actively
scrutinised throughout the year by the Board, responsible committees and the senior
management team. Each risk is assigned a target risk rating and if the Board is satisfied
that the level of risk has reduced to that level and is fully mitigated, it may direct that the
risk be removed from the assurance framework.
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Engaging the public in risk management
The Board Assurance Framework is discussed quarterly at Board meetings held in public.
This helps provide assurance to public stakeholders that risks affecting them are being
managed effectively. Additionally, key risks are discussed and debated at the CCG’s
Patient and Public Involvement Committee, an example being engaging Committee
members in managing the risk of the CCG failing to achieve its financial control total in
2016/17
Risks to governance, compliance, management and internal control
During 2016/17 the CCG identified the following significant risks to the achievement of its
strategic objectives:
•

Failure to improve engagements with member practices, patients, the public, carers
and staff to contribute to and influence the work of the CCG because of:
o Risk that we do not engage effectively with a range of our patients,
population and stakeholders;
o Risk that our member practices and other partners do not see the
potential positive impact of their engagement with the CCG;
o Risk that we do not engage effectively with our staff.

•

Failure to commission safe, high quality services that meet the population’s needs,
reducing health inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill health and stay
well because of:
o Risk that we do not deliver on all NHS Constitutional pledges, key national
targets and priorities;
o Risk that we are unable to ensure high quality, safe and sustainable services
for the population and patients of west Hertfordshire;
o Risk that we do not close the health inequalities gap between the most and
least deprived communities;
o Risk of lack of adequate system capability in the management and security
of information, data and technology. (New risk added in April 2016 as the
management of information, data and technology is a key enabler for
transformational change.)

•

Failure to work with health and social care partners to transform the delivery of
care through the implementation of ‘Your Care, Your Future’ the strategic review
in west Hertfordshire because of:
o Risk that the joint submission to obtain additional capital resource to
successfully transform the delivery of care in west Hertfordshire is
unsuccessful;
o Risk that there will be insufficient support from national bodies and
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key stakeholders to transform the delivery of care in west
Hertfordshire;
o Risk that workforce issues will prevent us from transforming the delivery of
care across the local health and social care system.
•

Failure to ensure that there is a financially sustainable and affordable healthcare
system across west Hertfordshire because of:
o Risk that we do not deliver a financially sustainable health and social
care system;
o Risk that we do not deliver best value from the total CCG budget;
o Risk that we do not achieve the agreed control total for 2016/17.

Internal audit undertook a review of Risk Management and Assurance in 2016/17 and
concluded that the CCG Board can take reasonable assurance that the controls upon
which the organisation relies to manage the identified risk(s) are suitably designed and
consistently applied. However, as referred to on page 74 in this document, issues
revealing control failures emerged from quarter two onwards that resulted in a
deterioration of some risks on the Board Assurance Framework and the escalation of risks
related to partnership arrangements and continuing healthcare to the corporate risk
register. Individual risks related to performance against targets are referred to at a high
level in the Board Assurance Framework (BAF) risk 2.1: ‘Risk that we do not deliver on all
NHS Constitutional pledges, key national targets and priorities.’ However, to reflect
concern about slow progress on improvement trajectories, risks related to the following
performance targets were also escalated from directorate risk registers to the corporate
risk register during 2016/17: A&E 4 hour target; delayed transfers of care; referral to
treatment; and ambulance ‘Red 1 and 2’ targets.

The CCG’s internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed
to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
The Audit Committee has oversight of the internal control mechanisms on behalf of the
Board. Executive directors and the Commissioning Executive Committee oversee the
management and delivery of internal control mechanisms. The Audit Committee bases
its assessments, and therefore assurances, on the effectiveness of the CCG’s controls
on:
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•
•
•

Assurances provided by the Board and Committees’ work programmes;
Reviews of CCG policies and procedures (e.g. annual review of Detailed
Financial Policies);
Provision of assurance from independent sources (e.g. internal or external audit or
third party reviews undertaken).

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
The audit took place in December and concluded that:


The CCG has the key elements in place which underpin an effective Conflict of Interest
framework: a detailed policy which has been actively communicated to staff; a checklist
for Chairs of groups and committees; a number of registers which capture all the
necessary detail for users to understand how identified conflicts have been managed.

Of the 26 controls published as part of the NHS England Internal Audit Framework the CCG
was fully compliant with 19 of the controls and partially compliant with 7. The areas of
partial compliance were as follows:
NHS England Internal Audit Framework
Findings Summary
Control
The CCG considers conflicts of interest when
The Recruitment policy had passed its
appointing governing body members,
review date, November 2015, and did not
members of committees and sub committees include explicit mention of considering the
and senior employees. All new appointments
Conflicts of Interest during the
are required to declare any interests during
recruitment of new appointments.
the recruitment process.
Section 2: Declarations of interest and gifts and hospitality
The CCG has mechanisms and arrangements in Two members were identified as having
place to ensure that any person covered by
live or current directorships which were
one of the registers, who declares a conflict of not declared on the Register of Interests.
interest or any gifts or hospitality, does so as
soon as practicable and in any event within 28
days of them becoming aware of it.
The CCG’s constitution includes a statement of The revised CCG Constitution, which
conduct detailing what is expected of its
details the new commitments with
employees, governing body members,
Conflicts of Interests, had not been
members of committees and sub committees; published on the CCG website. At the time
and members of the CCG i.e. GP partners and
of the audit, the Constitution had been
practice staff with involvement in CCG
approved by the CCG member Practices
business, with regards to declaring conflict of
and was yet to be submitted to NHS
interests.
England for approval.

70

NHS England Internal Audit Framework
Findings Summary
Control
Section 3: Registers of interest, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions
The CCG has processes in place to confirm on
Across all four Localities, a total of 53/310
a six monthly basis that the register(s) of
declaration of Interest forms were
interests is accurate and up-to-date, including outstanding at the time of the audit.
the requirement for employees, governing
body members, members of committees and
sub committees and practice staff with
involvement in CCG business to provide ‘nil
returns’ where there are no changes to
interests.
Section 4: Decision making processes and contract monitoring
The CCG has a mechanism in place to require
The Procurement policy had passed its
bidders/potential contractors to declare any
review date of June 2015. Though it
interests as part of the bidding process.
contained guidance that procurement
should comply with the Conflicts of
Interest policy, there was no detailed
guidance on managing conflicts when
procuring GP services.
When decisions are made in meetings,
There was not an explicit rule in the
evidence is maintained to show conflicts have Standards of Business Conduct which
been considered and, if any potential conflicts states that where it has been agreed
exist, that the following items are recorded in conflicted members in a meeting can parthe minutes:
take in a discussion but not in the
• Who has the interest;
decision, that they should leave the room
• The nature of the interest and why it gives for when the decision is being taken.
rise to a conflict, including the magnitude
of any interest;
• The items on the agenda to which the
interest relates;
• How the conflict was agreed to be
managed; and
• Evidence that the conflict was managed as
intended.
Section 5: Identifying and managing non-compliance
The CCG has defined the process to be
followed for managing non- compliance
with policies and procedures (including
how this will be addressed when it relates
to contracts already entered into).

There was not explicit guidance on how to
treat the affected contract entered into which
has had a Conflicts of Interest breach
identified. It may be that the breach has
resulted in goods or services being procured
which were not the best options form the
alternatives. The CCG may seek to re-procure
services from a different contractor.

71

Two medium and five low priority actions were agreed with management which will address
these areas.
Taking account of the issues identified, the Board can take reasonable assurance that the
controls upon which the organisation relies to manage this area are suitably designed and
consistently applied. However, we have identified issues that need to be addressed in order
to ensure that the control framework is effective in managing this area.
Data quality
Good information is essential for the commissioning of appropriate services. The CCG’s
Business Information and Performance team provide key metrics to all committees and to
CCG directors and their staff to enable discharge of their respective functions.
Collaboration agreements are in place between the CCG, East and North Hertfordshire
CCG, Hertfordshire County Council, local NHS providers, North and East London CSU and
commercial partners to allow the necessary data flows.
The CCG also maintains data relating to packages of care for continuing healthcare (CHC) and
funded nursing care (FNC) within a separate database. During 2016/17 it was identified that
this database was materially incorrect in that package details were out of date. This included
packages omitted or ones that showed continued commitments even after ceasing. Also,
that costs were different to those being invoiced. A data cleansing exercise is in progress to
ensure that the database includes only costs and details relating to packages that have an
impact in the current financial year. In addition, the database will be subject to additional
scrutiny to ensure that it remains up to date with regular checks being undertaken. The CCG
had relied on the database to inform the level of CHC expenditure to be recorded within the
CCG’s accounts. In view of the problems identified the CCG triangulated the information
extracted from the database and compared it to known cash and invoice commitments. This
identified that despite the errors present within the database, the overall financial impact is
minimal.
With the exception of the CHC and FNC data, the Board considers the quality of data it
receives to be acceptable.
Information governance
The NHS Information Governance (IG) Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to
the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively
IG toolkit level of compliance - Level 2
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have
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established an information governance management framework and are developing have
developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the information
governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance
training and have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff
are aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation against identified risks.
The internal audit of the CCG’s Information Governance Toolkit was able to agree the CCG’s
self-assessment scores for all 10 requirements in the sample selected by the auditors.
The CCG’s procedures for managing IG Toolkit improvement plans, including
monitoring, reporting, and compliance, were found to be robust and thus reduce the
risk of failure or delay in implementing improvements to the CCG’s submissions and
achievement of target levels regarding Toolkit compliance.
Business critical models
The CCG can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment continued to be in
place during 2016/17 to provide quality assurance of business critical models.
There are several aspects of the 2013 MacPherson review which are of relevance to the
CCG to increase the robustness of the modelling work we undertake as well as providing
assurance to the relevant Committee and Board of the level of confidence which can be
taken from the modelling estimates. The recommendations from the Macpherson report
highlight several of these and they have been adapted for CCG use:
•

All models should have appropriate quality assurance of their inputs, methodology
and outputs in the context of the risks their use represents. If unavoidable time
constraints prevent this happening then this should be explicitly acknowledged and
reported.

•

All models should be managed within a framework that ensures appropriately
specialist staff are responsible for developing and using the models as well as quality
assurance.

•

There should be a single Senior Responsible Owner for each model through its
lifecycle, and clarity from the outset on how quality assurance (QA) is to be managed.
Business cases using results from models should summarise what QA processes have
been undertaken, including the extent of expert scrutiny and challenge. They should
also confirm if the SRO is content the QA process is compliant and appropriate with
any model limitations, risks, and the major assumptions are understood and applied
in generating the model outputs. This needs to include end users of any model
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prepared.
•

The CCG needs to continue to build the right environment for QA, including how
they will address the issues of culture, capacity and capability, and control; including
where possible the development of standardised processes.

Third Party Assurances
The CCG receives some of its financial services functions from East & North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group (E&NHCCG) however the transactions and services managed
are subject to HVCCG’s financial control policies and procedures and assurance is received
through internal audit reports.
HVCCG also receives its information and communication technology (ICT) service from
Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire & Luton ICT Services (Hosted by E&NHCCG). The ICT function is
overseen by the HBL ICT stakeholder board at which HVCCG is represented at Director level.
This Board considers the effectiveness of the services received and makes recommendations
for improvement.
Raising concerns
The Director of Workforce is responsible for providing six monthly updates to the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the operation of the Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing)
Policy.
The efficacy of the policy can be inferred from responses to the annual staff survey, which
asks three questions that relate to the whistleblowing policy, as follows:
 Know how to report unsafe clinical practice
 Would feel secure raising concerns about unsafe clinical practice
 Would feel confident that organisation would address concerns about
unsafe clinical practice.
80% of CCG staff completed the 2016 staff survey. 91% of respondents stated that they
would know how to report unsafe clinical practice, similar to the national CCG average of
93%. 77% of respondents stated they would feel secure in raising concerns, which is more
positive than the CCG average of 71%. 72% of respondents reported confidence in the CCG
addressing any concerns raised, which is above the national CCG average of 66%.
The staff survey results therefore indicate good awareness of and confidence in the CCG’s
processes in relation to unsafe clinical practice and therefore reflect positively on the
operation of the policy within the CCG.

Control issues
Three failures of control have been reported during 2016/17, as set out below.
Adverse variance against plan
The CCG’s financial plan for 2016/17 requires an in-year surplus of £530,000 in order to
maintain a cumulative surplus of 1%. Despite considerable efforts to reduce costs, the CCG
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has been unable to bring expenditure down sufficiently to deliver the financial plan. Financial
results for Month 3 showed that the CCG had a £5.9m adverse variance to plan and work to
develop a Financial Recovery Plan was therefore started in July 2016. The CCG’s financial
position deteriorated at Month 4 with an adverse variance of £7.1m being reported. The
methodology for reporting year-to-date and forecast outturn positions was shared with
colleagues from NHS England (Central Midlands) finance team and there was shared
acceptance that without recovery actions, the CCG was facing the possibility of an
unmitigated outturn deficit of £18m for 2016/17.
The draft Financial Recovery Plan was first presented to Board members in a development
session on 25 August 2016 and following ratification, submitted to NHS England on the same
date. Three key areas of financial challenge were highlighted, being: deterioration in acute
position, lack of QIPP delivery and continuing healthcare (CHC) overspend. Since then,
further intensive work has been undertaken with the support of a Turnaround Director and
frequent assurance meetings with NHS England. A number of further iterations of the
recovery plan have been developed.
The CCG’s financial position did not recover in line with the plan. The outturn was a £14.6m
deficit variance against plan (before the release of its £7.3m 1% transformation reserve). The
CCG’s underlying activity run-rate is significantly over plan, impacted by a deterioration in
acute providers’ outturn. Variance to plan is attributable to: lack of QIPP embedded within
contracts; poor QIPP delivery (53% at Month 11); poor processes and lack of accuracy in
continuing healthcare reporting; investments made in advance of savings achievement; poor
contract management processes at the start of 2016/17; capacity and capability challenges
in core CCG functions (contracting, finance and business intelligence).
The financial plan for 2017/18 assumes an underlying deficit of £8.9m. A QIPP target of
£38m has been set with schemes to the value of £45m required for headroom. Schemes
identified to date total £24m. An external review of capacity and capability has been
undertaken and an action plan is being developed to address key areas of weakness at pace.
The new Chief Executive Officer, with the support of a reconfigured Executive team,
including a new post of Director of Delivery, is now working on a turnaround plan for
2017/18 to be completed and submitted for approval to NHS England by end of May 2017.
The business intelligence function is to be outsourced to provide resilience and improved
service. The CCG’s internal delivery function is to be enhanced and the project management
office (PMO) re-vamped. There will be a focus on rigour and quality of budgetary control and
new, restricted levels of authorisation have been introduced from 1 April 2017.
Governance of financial decision-making
The CCG Executive requested an internal audit review of payments to the local authority,
Hertfordshire County Council and this highlighted a lack of clarity and documented evidence
trail of how the decision to approve the 2016/17 £8.5m social care funding to the local
authority was made. There was a lack of Board ratification of the funding, and the Standing
Financial Instructions could have been clearer on the process to follow when working with
system partners, that is the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and the Better Care
Fund (BCF). The section75 agreement between the CCG and Hertfordshire County Council
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was contained within a large document and key areas were not signposted to the Board
when presented for approval. The report also found the reporting to the Board on the funds
committed to and the review of s75 variations required improvement. A CCG commissioned
external governance review in April 2017 will look more closely at decision-making
processes to support better decisions and will make recommendations on actions which will
be signed off by the Board in May 2017.
CHC data quality as discussed above (page 72).
An improvement plan (see page 81) has been designed to address all of these control
weaknesses as well as all other matters raised in the external reviews of capacity, capability
and governance.
Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
The effectiveness of the use of resources and financial performance of the CCG was
monitored on a monthly basis by the Board and its Quality and Performance Committee.
The Quality and Performance Committee is chaired by a Lay Member of the Board.
This Committee receives monthly finance reports which set out the current and forecast
financial position of the CCG. Key to the delivery of the CCG’s financial plan is its Quality,
Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) programme which describes the schemes,
projects and work programmes that are designed to drive efficiencies and savings in the
services commissioned. This programme is monitored and maintained by a programme
office within the CCG and progress reports are produced monthly and scrutinised by the
Quality and Performance Committee.
All costs which are not directly related to the provision of health and care services are
captured as management (running) costs and the CCG receives an allocation for such costs
which it is not permitted to breach. For the 2016/17 financial year the CCG remained within
it running costs allocation.
Corporate risks in respect of financial performance and the use of resources are captured in
the Board Assurance Framework, Corporate Risk Register and directorate level risk registers.
The highest level risks are reported to the Audit Committee and Board of the CCG. The Audit
Committee is accountable to the Board and its remit is to provide the Board with an
independent and objective view of the group’s systems, information and compliance with
laws, regulations and directions governing the group. It delivers this remit in the context of
the group’s priorities and the risks associated with achieving them. In accordance with Public
Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit is required to provide an annual
opinion, based upon and limited to a risk-based plan of work agreed with management and
approved by the audit committee, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s
risk management, control and governance processes. The opinion contributes to the annual
governance statement.
The CCG identified a significant in-year variation to the financial plan in June. A recovery
plan was approved by the CCG Board in August 2016, but by November a significantly
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worsened position triggered the CCG being formally placed in financial turnaround. The
end of year position (including the surplus carried forward from 2015/16 and the 1%
transformation fund) was a surplus of just £0.24m. The CCG is developing a turnaround
plan, including a medium term financial strategy, to mitigate the impact that the
deteriorating financial position in 2016/17 would otherwise have on future financial
resilience.
The CCG’s performance is monitored against an improvement assessment framework.
Progress against this framework is monitored through assurance meetings with NHS
England. At the time of writing the formal outcome of this assessment process was not
known.
Delegation of Functions
The CCG has not delegated any of its functions either internally or externally.

Counter fraud arrangements
An accredited counter fraud specialist is contracted to undertake counter fraud work
proportionate to identified risks. The audit committee receives regular reports which
update the committee on the current risk profile and a summary of reactive work
undertaken. Additionally the committee receives an annual local counter fraud services
report which highlights key activities during the year and performance again agreed
KPIs.
The Chief Finance Officer is proactively and demonstrably responsible for tackling fraud,
bribery and corruption. Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Protect quality
assurance recommendations.

Health and Safety
Herts Valleys CCG has continued to work with Herts County Council throughout 2016/17 to
ensure that all corporate responsibilities relating to Health and Safety are met. All staff
undertake mandatory health and safety training and line managers have undergone
additional training this year. The CCG has completed their initial Health and Safety work
plan and agreed a new 3 year policy and strategy which has been informed by, and
developed, to support our organisational aims and objectives as laid out in the Corporate
Health and Safety policy.

Emergency Planning Resilience and Response
Emergency Planning and Resilience at Herts Valleys CCG is about ensuring that we are
prepared for any service interruption or emergency that may occur, which threatens our
ability to exercise our civil protection and/or ordinary functions, as required as a Category 2
Responder by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. It is Herts Valley Clinical Commissioning
Group policy to ensure that we can continue to deliver our critical services and to support
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the community and our partner organisations before, during and after an emergency, in so
far as reasonably practicable.
In 2016/17 the CCG has achieved full compliance with the NHS England Core Standards for
Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response, an improvement on the previous assessment
of “substantial compliance” in 2015/16. We continue to work hard to maintain our
compliance at this level. This year we have taken part in a number of multi-agency exercises
in order to test and improve our Business Continuity and emergency plans, including west
Hertfordshire’s “Operation Phoenix” and “Operation Cygnus,” the national pandemic flu
exercise. A comprehensive plan is in place to train all relevant staff to an appropriate level
on how to deal with major incidents and emergencies. We have also started to facilitate
training which is carried out in a multi-agency environment and involving our partners in the
local health economy.

Head of Internal Audit opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded
that:
Our FINAL opinion, based on work undertaken up to 31 March 2017, is set out as follows:
FINAL head of internal audit opinion 2016/17
In general, the organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management
and internal control. Our work did identify that there are weaknesses in the framework for
governance such that it could be, or could become, inadequate and ineffective.
Our work also identified further enhancements to the framework of risk management and
internal control to ensure that it remains adequate and effective.
Factors and findings which have informed our final opinion.
We issued one RED report (no assurance) as follows:
Local Authority Payments. Our review highlighted a lack of clarity and documented
evidence trail of how the decision to approve the 2016/17 £8.5m social care funding to the
Local Authority was made. There was a lack of Board ratification of the funding, and the
Standing Financial Instructions could have been clearer on the process to follow when
working with system partners i.e. STP, BCF. The s75 agreement was contained within a
large document and key areas were not signposted to the Board when presented for
approval. We also found the reporting to the Board on the funds committed to and the
review of s75 variations required improvement.
We issued three AMBER/RED reports (Partial Assurance) as follows:

78

Urgent Care Sustainability: Our review highlighted that the schemes in the Recovery
Improvement Plan did not undergo a formal scrutiny or approval process, and there was
little oversight in the development of project plans; the CCG depended on verbal assurances
that plans were being developed. Furthermore, the CCG did not receive quality assurances
from providers during the development of plans, and there was no formal agreement in
place with providers to mitigate the risk of disputes around halted schemes.
Financial Planning and QIPP Delivery: Our review highlighted that there was unidentified
cost savings at the time of the audit, an absence of business cases for all QIPP schemes
reviewed and/or business cases did not have the appropriate financial information and were
not always submitted to an appropriate committee for review and challenge, and an
apparent lack of ownership and accountability for schemes. In addition, Programme Boards
were not minuted, therefore we could not see evidence of scrutiny and level of challenge,
and the Quality and Performance Committee did not consistently raise actions where there
was QIPP underperformance. Furthermore, there was a lack of formal and structured
lessons learnt exercise undertaken.
Governance (System Resilience Group): Our review highlighted a lack of clarity and strong
documented evidence for the decision making for providing the £3.8m funding to West
Herts Hospital NHS Trust. The source of the funding was also not clear. The terms of
reference for the System Resilience Group / Local A&E Delivery Board required review to
ensure the quorum and consideration for seeking approval above a set financial limit were
considered. Furthermore, the Standing Financial Instructions required strengthening to
provide clarity on how financial decisions which involve system partners were to be
managed.
We recognise that during 2016/17 the CCG has faced an increased worsening financial
position due to increasing acute activity, growth in the number and cost of continuing
care packages, and delays in delivery of a £21.6m QIPP plan. A Financial Recovery Plan
has been agreed with NHS England, however it is expected the CCG will be £1m below
the recovery target. The total forecasted negative variance at year end is £10m once
savings have been applied.
We provided AMBER/GREEN (Reasonable Assurance) ratings in our review of Board
Assurance Framework, Primary Care Commissioning, Cyber Security, Conflicts of Interest,
Key Financial Controls (DRAFT), and Localities Governance and Engagement (DRAFT). We
have also undertaken an advisory review in relation to Information Governance Toolkit.
Agreed action plans are in place for the above reports and we will validate those
actions reported as closed and provide updates to the Audit Committee as part of our
Progress Report.
To summarise, during the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
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Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Urgent Care Sustainability

Partial assurance

Financial Planning and QIPP Delivery

Partial assurance

Risk Management and Board Assurance
Framework
Primary Care Co-Commissioning

Reasonable assurance

Cyber Security

Reasonable assurance

IG Toolkit review - advisory
Conflicts of Interest

Agreed CCG’s self-assessment scores for all
ten requirements reviewed
Reasonable assurance

Local Authority Payments

No assurance

SRG/Local A&E Delivery Board governance

Partial assurance

Localities governance and engagement

Final report awaited

Reasonable assurance

Review of effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of
the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of
the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to
me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their
annual audit letter and other external reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls
that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives
have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:
 The Board
 The Audit Committee
 The Quality and Performance Committee
 Internal Audit
 Independent reviews
Conclusion
In light of the significant challenges and control failures reported above, the Executive has
already begun and will continue to implement improvement and turnaround actions at
pace.
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In respect of risk management and governance, the CCG has made, and continues to make,
significant efforts in developing and enhancing its framework and systems of internal
control to implement the recommendations made by internal investigation, our internal
auditors and the external reviews of capacity, capability and governance. The CCG has set
its strategic objectives for 2017/18 and a refreshed assurance framework has been
developed. The Audit Committee will monitor progress against the improvement action plans
agreed so that it is able to give assurance to the Board. The revised assurance framework will
identify areas where there are gaps in controls or assurances, as well as positive issues
throughout the forthcoming year. New methods of reporting on the assurance framework
to the Board will promote an improved quality of discussion and challenge.
I can conclude that three significant internal control issues have been identified during
2016/17 relating to: the year-end financial variance from plan of £14.6m; lapses in
financial governance identified in relation to local authority payments and the decision
making process for the Local A&E Delivery Board (formerly System Resilience Group);
and inaccurate data within the database maintained for Continuing Healthcare and
Funded Nursing Care packages. The key actions being taken to address these significant
control issues, as well as the wider improvement issues raised by the capacity and
capability and governance reviews, are summarised in the table below.

HVCCG Improvement Plan 2017/18: key areas of focus
Developing people and leadership
 Developing a succession plan for all of the CCG Board
 Redefining Executive roles and responsibilities and ensuring their personal
development
 Creating a portfolio for a Deputy CEO
 Redefining the roles and responsibilities of locality leaders
Improving performance and accountability
 Strengthening the performance management function
 Developing a corporate movement on accountability at all levels of the CCG
Capacity and capability
 Addressing gaps identified in business intelligence, finance and contracting teams.
 Data cleansing of the CHC database and implementation of improved systems for ongoing scrutiny.
Governance
 Improving governance and oversight by refocusing the Board and its committees and
clarifying their purpose, membership, roles and responsibilities.
 Establishing clearly understood lines of communication and decision making from
floor to Board and Board to floor.
 Strengthening financial governance through a thorough review of authorisation
limits for individuals, committees and the Board.
 Undertaking programmes of Board development and succession planning that
support a journey to becoming an assurance-based unitary Board.
Your Care, Your Future
 Improving delivery through a particular focus on:
- new models of care;
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HVCCG Improvement Plan 2017/18: key areas of focus
- the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP); and
- primary care.
Stakeholders
 Developing our engagement and relationships with stakeholders.
 Refreshing values and behaviours
 Implementing a communications strategy
Repairing and developing financial resilience
 Developing a medium-term financial strategy
 Delivering financial turnaround
The Audit Committee Chair confirms that this conclusion is consistent with the work of the
Audit Committee throughout the year and with the final Head of Internal Audit Opinion.
Signed

Kathryn Magson
Accountable Officer
30 May 2017

82

Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report
Remuneration Committee
The membership of the Remuneration Committee is set out on page 56 of this document.
Policy on Remuneration of Senior Managers (not subject to audit)
The CCG does not operate a Performance Related Pay policy for senior managers or any of
our staff. The Remuneration Committee reviewed and agreed in 2014-15 proposals for
introducing non-financial recognition for high achieving performance in the form of access
to external training and development opportunities.
The pay rates for staff, including senior managers, are assessed against the rates that other
commissioning groups and local NHS bodies offer for similar roles.
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers (not subject to audit)
The remuneration of senior managers is determined by national terms and conditions –
Very Senior Managers Pay Framework. The CCG’s senior managers are employed under the
nationally agreed contractual arrangements, all having been employed on permanent
contracts which include an appropriate notice period. There is no provision in the contracts
for termination payments save for any contractual entitlements to redundancy
compensation which would be calculated using the agreed NHS formula.
Salaries and allowances (subject to audit)
The table below details the salaries and allowances of Board members and other senior
managers who were part of the CCG’s Executive Team or regularly attended Board meetings
during the year.
Payments for loss of office (subject to audit)
During 2016/17 there were no payments of money or other assets to any individual who
was a senior manager in the year, or in a previous year, for loss of office.
Payments to past senior managers (subject to audit)
During 2016/17 there were no payments of money or other assets to any individual who
had previously been a senior manager that are required to be disclosed.
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Remuneration for members of the Board: salaries and allowances in 2016/17 (subject to audit)

Name and Title

Nicola Bell - Accountable Officer (1 April 2016-1 May
2016)- Note 2
Cameron Ward - Interim Accountable Officer (1 April
2016-15 March 2017) - Note 3
Kathryn Magson - Chief Executive (16 March 201731 March 2017)
Alan Warren - Chief Finance Officer (1 April 201630 September 2016)
Caroline Hall - Chief Finance Officer (1 October 201631 March 2017)
Dr Nicolas Small - GP Director and CCG Chair
David Buckle -Medical Director
Diane Curbishley - Director of Nursing and Quality
Trevor Fernandes - GP Director and Deputy Clinical
Chair
Richard Pile - GP Director
Michael Edwards - GP Director
Rami Eliad - GP Director
Keith Hodge - GP Director
Clair Moring - GP Director
Mike Walton - GP Director

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100

Performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£00

£000

£000

£000

£000

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

265-270

0

0

0

0

265-270

5-10

0

0

0

0-2.5

5-10

60-65

1

0

0

0

60-65

55-60

0

0

0

30-32.5

85-90

130-135
80-85
100-105
100-105

0
1
2
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

20-22.5
0
165-167.5
0

150-155
80-85
270-275
100-105

75-80
50-55
75-80
40-45
75-80
75-80

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

27.5-30
5-7.5
0
0
15-17.5
10-12.5

100-105
55-60
75-80
40-45
90-95
85-90
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Name and Title

Thida Win - Secondary Care Consultant (1 June 201631 March 2017)
Stuart Bloom - Lay Member and CCG Vice Chair
Alison Gardner - Lay Member
Paul Smith - Lay Member
Thelma Stober - Lay Member

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100

Performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15

0
1
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15
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Remuneration for members of the Board: salaries and allowances in 2015/16

Name and Title

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100

Performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
125-130
105-110
130-135

£00
3
0
0

£000
0
0
0

£000
0
0
0

£000
5-7.5
0-2.5
20-22.5

£000
135-140
110-115
150-155

100-105

0

0

0

2.5-5.0

105-110

Charles Allan - Director of Commissioning and Strategy
Jan Norman - Director of Nursing and Quality (April
2015 - August 2015)
Diane Curbishley - Acting Director of Nursing and
Quality (September 2015 - February 2016) Director of
Nursing and Quality (March 2016)

100-105

0

0

0

15-17.5

120-125

35-40

1

0

0

25-27.5

60-65

50-55

2

0

0

40-42.5

90-95

Juliet Rodgers - Associate Director of Communications
Louise Gaffney - Interim Director of Strategy (April 2015
- August 2015)
Simon Eckett - Director of Strategy, Planning and
Delivery (September 2015 - March 2016)
Hein Scheffer - Director of Workforce (September 2015
- March 2016)
David Buckle - Medical Director ( May 2015 - March
2016)
Richard Pile - GP Director
Michael Edwards - GP Director

80-85

1

0

0

20-22.5

100-105

40-45

0

0

0

10-12.5

50-55

55-60

1

0

0

17.5-20.0

75-80

55-60

3

0

0

17.5-20.0

75-80

75-80

1

0

0

0

75-80

75-80
50-55

0
0

0
0

0
0

17.5-20.0
0

90-95
50-55

Nicola Bell - Accountable Officer
Alan Warren - Chief Finance Officer
Nicolas Small - GP Director and CCG Chair
Trevor Fernandes - GP Director and Deputy Clinical
Chair
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Name and Title

Rami Eliad - GP Director
Keith Hodge - GP Director
Clair Moring - GP Director
Mike Walton - GP Director
Bob Ghosh - Secondary Care Doctor Member
Stuart Bloom - Lay Member and CCG Vice Chair
Alison Gardner - Lay Member
Paul Smith - Lay Member
Thelma Stober - Lay Member (August 2015-March
2016)

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100

Performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
75-80
60-65
75-80
75-80
10-15

£00
0
0
0
0
0

£000
0
0
0
0
0

£000
0
0
0
0
0

£000
0
0
15-17.5
2.5-5.0
0

£000
75-80
60-65
90-95
75-80
10-15

10-15
10-15
10-15

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

10-15
10-15
10-15

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10
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Notes on Salaries and Allowances Table
1. For 2016/17 the list of disclosures has been revised to better meet the definition of senior
managers and now includes only Executive Directors (with voting rights), GP Members,
Secondary Care Consultant and Lay Members.
2. Nicola Bell was on annual leave for the overlapping period with Cameron Ward.
3. During the financial year 2016/17 the CCG engaged the services of its Accountable Officer
on an interim basis. The total cost paid in respect of this appointment exceeds £142,500.
In determining the rate of pay, costs were benchmarked against other candidates of similar
experience and suitability for the post.
The rate paid was the lowest of these benchmarked rates. This appointment was discussed
with and recommended by NHS England.
4. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in
respect of pension benefits for Lay Members.
5. Pension-related benefits are calculated in accordance with the 'HMRC method’. In
summary, this is as follows:
Increase = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB, where
PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the individual if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year
PB is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the individual if they
became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the individual if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year
LSB is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the individual if they
became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.
6. Details of the pensions and lump sums payable are provided by NHS Pensions
Pay Multiples (subject to audit)
The CCG is required to disclose the relationship between the highest paid director/member
in the organisation, in the financial year, and the median remuneration of the CCG’s
workforce, as at the reporting date (31st March 2017).
The lowest paid member of staff received £11,705 (2015/2016 £11,712), the highest
£265,375 (2015/16 £131,046).
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The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in Herts Valleys CCG, in the
financial year, was £265,000-£270,000 (2015/16 £130,000-£135,000). This was 7.3 times
(2015/16 3.4 times) the median remuneration of the CCG’s workforce which was £36,890
(2015/16 £38,681). The change in the ratio is due to the increase in the numerator,
following the appointment of an interim Accountable Officer, and to the lower median pay,
which is due to an increased headcount, the increase being mainly in lower paid roles. The
appointment of the interim Accountable Officer and the level of salary paid is explained
within the Notes on Salaries and Allowances Table on page 88.
In 2016/17 and 2015/16, at the reporting date, no employee received remuneration in
excess of the highest paid director/member of the CCG's Governing body.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay and benefitsin-kind.
It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value.
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2017 (subject to audit)
Relating to the period 1 April
2016 to 31 March 2017

Name and title

Nicola Bell - Accountable
Officer (1 April 2016-1 May
2016) - Note 3 and 4
Cameron Ward - Interim
Accountable Officer (1 April
2016-15 March 2017) - Note
2
Kathryn Magson - Chief
Executive (16 March 2017 31 March 2017)
Alan Warren - Chief Finance
Officer (1 April 2016-30
September 2016)- Note 3
Caroline Hall - Chief Finance
Officer (1 October 2016-31
March 2017)
Diane Curbishley - Director
of Nursing and Quality
Dr Nicolas Small - GP

Real
increase in
pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Total accrued
pension at
pension age at
31 March 2017
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March 2017
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at
1 April 2016

£000

Real
increase in
cash
equivalent
transfer
value

Cash
equivalent
transfer value
at 31 March
2017

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£00

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5-10

10-15

64

1

94

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

80-85

459

15

514

0

7.5-10

22.5-25

35-40

110-115

489

74

634

0

0-2.5

5-7.5

30-35

90-95

573

34

643

0
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Relating to the period 1 April
2016 to 31 March 2017

Director and CCG Chair
Trevor Fernandes - GP
Director and Deputy Clinical
Chair
Richard Pile - GP Director
Michael Edwards - GP
Director
Clair Moring - GP Director
Mike Walton - GP Director

Real
increase in
pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Total accrued
pension at
pension age at
31 March 2017
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March 2017
(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at
1 April 2016

0

0

0

0

0

0-2.5

0

20-25

55-60

0-2.5

0-2.5

40-45

0-2.5
0-2.5

0-2.5
2.5-5

10-15
25-30

Real
increase in
cash
equivalent
transfer
value

Cash
equivalent
transfer value
at 31 March
2017

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

0

0

0

280

19

318

0

130-135

830

31

892

0

35-40
80-85

225
484

16
23

256
531

0
0
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Notes
1. For 2016/17 the list of disclosures has been revised to better meet the definition of senior
managers and now includes only Executive Directors (with voting rights), GP Members,
Secondary Care Consultant and Lay Members.
2. As a member of the 2008/2015 Section of the NHS Pension Scheme no lump sum is
automatically payable
3. Cameron Ward is paid via an agency so there is no pension entitlement.
4. Nicola Bell and Alan Warren retired in 2016/17
5. Nicola Bell was on annual leave for the overlapping period with Cameron Ward
6. Trevor Fernandes opted out of the NHS Pension Scheme with effect from 31st August
2016
7. Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particularly point in time.
The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension
payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits
in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses
to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their membership of the pension scheme.
This may be for more than just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies
(in which case this fact will be noted at the foot of the table). See Note 1.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme.
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and
Faculty of Actuaries.
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8. Real Increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.
It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by
the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the
period.

Date ……………..……. Finance Signing Officer ………………………………………………………………………….
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Staff Report
Equality
The CCG is required by the Equality Act 2010 to publish their equality information annually
and demonstrate due regard to the public sector equality duty’s three aims, which are as
follows:
1. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
2. Advance equality of opportunity between different groups; and
3. Foster good relations between different groups.
Training ensures managers and staff understand the importance of equality and diversity
and link this to all areas of business, service and policy development. All staff have to
complete equality and diversity training and specialist equality training is provided through
the organisational development and learning team.
In the last year we have appointed a full time Equality and Diversity Lead as part of an HR
and Organisational Development and Learning Shared Service for four CCGs, to support the
organisation to meet the legal requirements and then build towards completely
mainstreaming our approach to equality and diversity across the organisation and our
partners/providers.
We have updated our equality impact assessment process to ensure that it is both robust
and encourages decision makers to consider the equality impact of proposals. This is used to
support us to meet the requirement to show due regard to our equality duties. The equality
impact assessments are routinely published as part of the finalised policy.
This year we have been awarded the Disability Confident accreditation, which replaced the
Positive About Disabled People (Two Ticks) accreditation. The workforce data report
includes a breakdown of disabled applicants and appointees. The CCG has policies in respect
of absence management, redeployment and learning and development which are used to
ensure that any employee who is disabled or becomes disabled remains in employment
with the CCG. This can include making reasonable adjustments, redeployment, and
education as appropriate.
The CCG’s appraisal policy and guidelines are applied to all staff within the CCG and include
provision for considering training needs, career development and progression.
The CCG has met the specific equality duty by publishing both our equality action plan and
workforce equality information in accordance with section 149 of the Equality Act. The 2016
workforce data report is available on our website. This report shows an organisation where
the staff group is reasonably balanced, when compared to the local population and other
CCGs.
The Equality Act requires us to publish an equality action plan. Our current plan, available on
our website, will be reviewed and refreshed in the coming year.
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We will undertake an assessment against the NHS Equality Delivery System in the coming
year.
Gender breakdown (as at 10 March 2017) (subject to audit)
Board members (including Very Senior Manager pay framework grades)
Male
Female
Headcount
%
Headcount
%
8
53.33
7
46.66
Senior Managers – Band 8a and above
Male
Headcount
%
21
24.42

Female
Headcount
65

%
75.58

All other bands (band 7 and below)
Male
Headcount
%
17
17

Female
Headcount
83

%
83

The Equality Act requires us to publish an equality action plan. Our current plan, available on
our website, will be reviewed and refreshed in the coming year.
We will undertake an assessment against the NHS Equality Delivery System in the coming
year.
Sickness absence (not subject to audit)
Sickness absence data relating to the 2016 calendar year extracted from the Health and
Social Care Information Centre.





Total days lost: 1,439 calendar days, equivalent to 887 working days
Average absence per employee: 6 days
Long term absence episodes: 12 (taken from ESR)
Long term days total: 765 days (taken from ESR; included in total days lost)

Staff policies applied during the year (not subject to audit)
The following revised staff policy was applied during the year:
 Education, Training and Development Policy.
All staff policies are available on our website www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk (search policies)
Job applications from disabled persons: Two ticks scheme
This year we have been awarded the Disability Confident accreditation, which replaced the
Positive About Disabled People (Two Ticks) accreditation. We have attained Level 2:
Employer accreditation, which means we:
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Actively look to attract and recruit disabled people;
Provide a fully inclusive and accessible recruitment process;
Offer an interview to disabled people who meet the minimum criteria for the job;
Are flexible when assessing people so disabled job applicants have the best
opportunity to demonstrate that they can do the job;
Proactively offer and make reasonable adjustments as required;
Encourage our suppliers and partner firms to be Disability Confident; and
Ensure employees have appropriate disability equality awareness.

Expenditure on consultancy (not subject to audit)
The CCG recorded net expenditure of £388,988 on management consultancy in 2016/17.
Most of this related to Your Care, Your Future.
The principal transactions are summarised in the table below:
Consultancy provider
Amount (£)
Moorhouse Consulting Ltd
119,040
Grayling Communications Ltd
101,624
AMEC Foster Wheeler Environment &
40,795
Infrastructure UK Ltd
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
26,122
All other providers
101,407
TOTAL
388,988

Purpose
Your Care, Your Future
Your Care, Your Future
Your Care, Your Future
Your Care, Your Future
Various

Off-payroll engagements
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months (not subject to audit)
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2017, for more than £220
per day and that last longer than six months:
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017

Number
3

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting
for between one and two years at the time of

2
reporting

0

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

1

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

All existing off-payroll engagements outlined above have been subject to a risk based
assessment as to whether the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where
necessary, that assurance has been sought.
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Table 2: New off-payroll engagements (not subject to audit)
For all new off-payroll engagements between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for more
than £220 per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017
Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving
Herts Valleys CCG the right to request assurance in relation to income tax
and National Insurance obligations

4
0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

3

Of which:
assurance has been received

1

assurance has not been received

2

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received.

2

Table 3: Off-payroll engagements/senior official engagements (not subject to audit)
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the
financial year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

1

27
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Table 4: Employee benefits and staff numbers (subject to audit)
4.1.1 Employee benefits 2016/17
Total
Permanent
Employees
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS
Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits
expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of
employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee
benefits including capitalised
costs
Less: Employee costs
capitalised
Net employee benefits
excluding capitalised costs

Other

Total

Admin
Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Programme
Permanent
Employees

Other

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

9,186
796
853

7,067
760
853

2,119
36
0

7,362
671
686

5,864
635
686

1,498
36
0

1,824
125
167

1,203
125
167

621
0
0

12
10,847

12
8,692

0

12
8,731

12
7,197

0

0
2,116

0
1,495

0

2,155
0

0

1,534
0

0

621
0

0

10,847

8,692

0
2,155

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

10,847

8,692

2,155

8,731

7,197

1,534

2,116

1,495

621

8,731

7,197

0
1,534

2,116

1,495

0
621
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4.1.1 Employee benefits 2015/16

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS
Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits
expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of
employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee
benefits including capitalised
costs
Less: Employee costs payroll
capitalised
Net employee benefits
excluding capitalised costs

4.2

Total
£000

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000

8,769
604
844

6,524
593
822

Other
£000

Total
£000

Admin
Permanent
Employees
£000

2,245
11

7,211
521
703

5,537
510
681

Other
£000

Total
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

1,674
11

1,558
83
141

987
83
141

Other
£000
571
0

70
10,287

70
8,009

22
0
2,278

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

10,287

8,009

2,278

8,505

6,798

1,707

1,782

1,211

571

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

10,287

8,009

2,278

8,505

6,798

1,707

1,782

1,211

571

70
8,505

70
6,798

22
0
1,707

0
1,782

0
1,211

0
0
571

Average number of people employed
2016/17

Total number
176

Programme

Permanently
Other number
employed number
147
29

2015/16

Total number
158

Permanently
Other number
employed number
131
27
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Exit Packages (subject to audit)
The CCG made one payment in respect of an exit package during the financial year to value
of £11,861. This was a contractual payment in lieu of notice.
There were no payments during the financial year relating to compulsory or non-compulsory
redundancies.
Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of
the Agenda for Change pay scheme for NHS staff. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in
full in the year of departure. Where the CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional
costs are met by the CCG and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs
are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the table.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a Parliamentary
Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and
special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial
Statements of this report. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual
Report at page 102.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS HERTS
VALLEYS CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group (the
CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The
financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and
the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2016-17 Government Financial Reporting Manual (the
2016-17 FReM) as contained in the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 (the
2016-17 GAM) and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval
of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England (the Accounts
Direction).
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report described in that
report as having been audited.
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Herts Valleys CCG, as a
body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in
paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the
Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and
income. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as
required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Code of Audit Practice").
As explained in the Governance statement the Accountable Officer is responsible for the
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's resources.
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements
are in place.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:



whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and
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the overall presentation of the financial statements.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report and
accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes
intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern
them.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the
use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November
2016, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions
and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local
people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for
the year ended 31 March 2017.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment,
we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant
respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:



give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Herts Valleys CCG as at 31 March 2017
and of its net operating expenditure for the year then ended; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the
Accounts Direction issued thereunder.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:



the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Annual Report Directions made under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012); and
the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the annual
report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception – Use of resources
Auditor’s responsibilities
We report to you if we are not satisfied that the CCG has put in place proper arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Our assessment of arrangements is made by reference to the overall criterion: In all significant
respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions
and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local
people.
Basis for adverse conclusion
Sustainable finances
The CCG achieved its break-even duty for 2016/17 with net operating expenditure of £761,489,000
reported against a revenue resource limit of £761,733,000. However, in achieving this position, the
CCG needed to utilise approximately £10 million non-recurrent financial resources to address a
shortfall against its 2016/17 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) programme
target of £21.6 million.
For 2017/18, the CCG has identified that it needs to secure £38 million of savings to achieve its
break-even duty. This level of savings for 2017/18 is substantially greater than the QIPP savings
secured in 2016/17 and presents a significant challenge. In addition, the CCG has not yet prepared
a balanced budget for 2017/18 and its medium term financial plan identifies £11 million shortfall in
identified QIPP schemes against the £38 million required to achieve break-even position for
2017/18.
Informed decision making
During the year the CCG made payments to the value of £8.5 million in connection with support for
social care which consisted of an amount of £4 million that had been agreed by the Governing Body
and included in the Section 75 agreement (of the NHS Act 2006) that the CCG has with
Hertfordshire County Council plus an additional amount of £4.5 million.
The additional amount was not subject to approval by the CCG Board. Internal Audit completed a
review of the arrangements in place and reported that there were poor governance procedures and
gave a ‘no assurance’ opinion. The Internal Audit review identified a lack of clarity and
documentation around the decision making process, non-compliance with the CCG’s standing
financial instructions and a need for the CCG to ensure that management decisions are
appropriately ratified by the Board.
These issues are evidence of significant weaknesses in proper arrangements for the financing of
sustainable outcomes and informed decision making by the Board.
Adverse conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor
General in November 2016, we have been unable to satisfy ourselves that, in all significant
respects, NHS Herts Valleys CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.
Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if:



in our opinion the Governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS
Commissioning Board; or
we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the
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CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if followed to its conclusion , would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency;
or
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014; or
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Herts Valleys CCG in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of
Audit Practice.

Lisa Clampin
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Appointed Auditor
Ipswich, UK
26 May 2017
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
OC305127).
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NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2017
2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

(1,053)
(7)
(1,060)

(507)
(2)
(509)

10,838
750,463
756
492
762,549

9,939
700,650
99
834
711,522

Net Operating Expenditure

761,489

711,013

Total Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017

761,489

711,013

Note
Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income
Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2
3
3
3

The notes on pages 111 to 121 form part of this statement
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2017
Note

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

6
7

4,388
321
4,709

4,889
163
5,052

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

8
9

(50,521)
(706)
(51,227)

(44,796)
(652)
(45,448)

Net Current Liabilities

(46,518)

(40,396)

Assets less Liabilities

(46,518)

(40,396)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity

(46,518)
(46,518)

(40,396)
(40,396)

The notes on pages 111 to 121 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 107 to 110 were approved by the Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) on 25
May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Accountable Officer
Kathryn Magson
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2017
General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

(40,396)

(40,396)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(761,489)

(761,489)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
including balance brought forward from previous year

(801,885)

(801,885)

Net funding

755,367

755,367

Balance at 31 March 2017

(46,518)

(46,518)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 1 April 2016

General fund
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Balance at 1 April 2015

(41,991)

(41,991)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating costs for the financial year

(711,013)

(711,013)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
including balance brought forward from previous year

(753,004)

(753,004)

Net funding

712,608

712,608

Balance at 31 March 2016

(40,396)

(40,396)

The notes on pages 111 to 121 form part of this statement
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NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2016-17
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2017
2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

(761,489)
501
5,725
(702)
756
(755,209)

(711,013)
(427)
(1,629)
(3)
100
(712,972)

(755,209)

(712,972)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

755,367

712,608

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities

755,367

712,608

158

(364)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

163

527

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year

321

163

Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

6
8
9
9

Net Cash Outflow before Financing

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

7

The notes on pages 111 to 121 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting
Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning
groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical
commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis (despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section
30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014).
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group (CCG) contributes to pooled budget arrangements under a s75 agreement with Hertfordshire County Council
(HCC). These arrangements do not fall within the scope of IFRS 11.
The pool is hosted by HCC and the CCG accounts for its contributions to the pool as expenditure. Underspends and overspends are attributed to
and accounted for by the contributors to the pool in accordance with the risk arrangements set out in the s75 agreement.

1.4

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable. Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.5

Employee Benefits

1.5.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.5.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless
of the method of payment.

1.6

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration payable.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.7

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.

1.8

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de
recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.8.1

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from
Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.

1.9

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 16 Leases have been issued by the IASB. These
standards have not yet been incorporated in the FREM and so at this stage it is not possible to identify how the standards will impact on the CCG
since adaptations and interpretations maybe made for the public sector.

1.10

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

1.10.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management have made in the process of applying the
clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

1.10.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.10.2.1 Prescription Services
The Clinical Commissioning Group receives financial information from NHS Prescription Services who process prescription items to reimburse
and remunerate pharmacy contractors. In addition they supply the CCG with information relating to the cost of drugs prescribed by Independent
GP’s, CCG run Practices and other CCG Services.
Information is available two months in arrears and therefore the CCG must estimate February and March costs using the PPA estimated
cumulative profile to provide the total expenditure in the year. The estimate for 2016-17 was £11,802k (2015-16 £11,794k) and was based on
information provided by NHS Business Services Authority, and included in Trade and Other Payables.
1.10.2.2 Continuing Care Provision
A provision of £663k has been created, representing the estimated cost to the clinical commissioning group of settling 33 outstanding appeals
and retrospective claims seeking continuing health care funding. The estimated cost of settlement is calculated by taking into account the
number of days of care for which the appeal/claim is lodged multiplied by the average cost of care (estimated at £800 per week) and an estimate
for interest payments applicable to each claim.
1.10.2.3 Secondary Healthcare
Secondary care activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the final month of the year is not available in time
for the accounts and estimates of £15,300k for 2016-17 (£14,123k 2015-16) were made in agreement with providers. A full reconciliation is
undertaken once actual activity is agreed which is at the end of the first quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any)
becomes a charge or credit in the next financial year.
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2. Employee benefits and staff numbers
2.1 Employee benefits
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages (see note)
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

9,176
796
853
12
10,838

8,421
604
844
70
9,939

2016-17
Total
Number

2015-16
Total
Number

176

158

0

0

2.2 Average number of people employed

Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital projects

2.3 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules
of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit
schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and
Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets
and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of
participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial
reporting purposes. The valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2016, updated to 31
March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in
IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are
published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account their
recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The
Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM
Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed
appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019
and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013
to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer
cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for
Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
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3. Operating expenses
2016-17
£'000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members (Note 1)
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Premises
Audit fees (Note 2)
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

2015-16
£'000

8,868
1,970
10,838

8,353
1,586
9,939

235
111,939
379,964
170,776
222
4,146
389
1,569
654
88

634
97,096
362,591
150,596
564
3,342
812
1,823
358
88

45
0
73,230
5,524
704
90
756
1,111
269
751,711

28
4
73,974
6,188
200
139
99
2,777
270
701,583

762,549

711,522

Note 1: The Chair and Non Executive Members expenditure for 2016-17 only includes the Chair and
Lay members costs to reflect a change in the accounting treatment.
Note 2: Audit fees includes VAT and the net amount is £73k.
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4. Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
Number

2015-16
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

21,590
21,151
97.97%

188,089
183,308
97.46%

21,354
20,761
97.22%

166,664
157,698
94.62%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

4,331
3,778
87.23%

492,175
481,486
97.83%

4,054
3,310
81.65%

471,730
461,381
97.81%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a
valid invoice, whichever is later.
5. Operating Leases

The clinical commissioning group is a lessee to the premises at Hemel One, Boundary Way, Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire
HP2 7YU. The lease is for a term of five years from 11 April 2014 with a break clause on the final day of the third year of the term.
The clinical commissioning group also occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited. Whilst the
arrangements of the clinical commissioning group with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases,
the rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease
payments for these arrangements.
6. Trade and other receivables

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

Current
2016-17
£'000

Current
2015-16
£'000

991
1,877
225
399
207
610
58
21
4,388

2,814
1,443
0
409
81
76
65
1
4,889

The great majority of trade is within the NHS group. As the NHS is funded by Government, no credit scoring is considered
necessary.
6.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2016-17
£'000

2015-16
£'000

441
40
0
481

914
0
0
914

£272k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.
7. Cash and cash equivalents
2016-17
£'000
163
158
321

2015-16
£'000
527
(364)
163

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service

321

163

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

321

163

Balance at 31 March

321

163

Balance at 1 April
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March

There were no patients' monies held by the clinical commissioning group in 2016-17 and 2015-16.
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8. Trade and other payables

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

Current
2016-17
£'000

Current
2015-16
£'000

15,219
4,506
9,219
21,047
125
113
293
50,521

12,371
4,563
6,511
18,099
95
96
3,061
44,796

Other payables principally include £153k outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2017 (£140k - 31 March 2016).

9. Provisions

Redundancy
Continuing care
Other
Total

Balance at 1 April 2016
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2017
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2017

Current
2016-17
£'000
0
663
43
706

Current
2015-16
£'000
158
451
43
652

Redundancy
£'000

Continuing
Care
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

158

451

43

652

0
(130)
(28)
0

863
(572)
(79)
663

0
0
0
43

863
(702)
(107)
706

0
0

663
663

43
43

706
706

The continuing care provision of £663k relates to the estimated cost of settling 33 outstanding appeals seeking continuing health care
funding.

The provision of £43k relates to dilapidations in respect of premises at George Street and Isbister Centre.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for
liabilities relating to periods of care before establishment of the clinical commissioning group. However the legal liability
remains with the clinical commissioning group. The total value of such legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions
accounted for by NHS England on behalf of the clinical commissioning group at 31 March 2017 is £3,219k (£6,998k in 201516).
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10. Financial instruments
10.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in
creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
10.1.1 Credit risk
Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group and revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the clinical commissioning group
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in
the trade and other receivables note.
10.1.2 Liquidity risk
The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The clinical
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
10.2 Financial assets

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March

Loans and
Receivables
2016-17
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

Loans and
Receivables
2015-16
£'000

Total
2015-16
£'000

1,216
1,009
321
21
2,566

1,216
1,009
321
21
2,566

2,814
485
163
1
3,463

2,814
485
163
1
3,463

Other
2016-17
£'000

Total
2016-17
£'000

Other
2015-16
£'000

Total
2015-16
£'000

19,725
30,559
50,284

19,725
30,559
50,284

16,935
27,670
44,605

16,935
27,670
44,605

10.3 Financial liabilities

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March

11. Operating segments
The clinical commissioning group consider they have only one segment in 2016-17 and 2015-16: Commissioning of healthcare services.
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12. Pooled budgets
Under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, funds were pooled with Hertfordshire County Council, East and North Hertfordshire CCG and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG for the
joint commissioning of the following services:
- mental health, learning disabilities, including child and adolescent mental health
- integrated community equipment
- services commissioned through the Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund, as set out in the s75 agreement, includes elements of funding from both Hertfordshire County Council and Herts Valleys CCG that are not pooled and
therefore not included within the table below.
For 2016-17 these contributions totalled £80,921k for Herts Valleys CCG (2015-16 £82,463k) and £62,216k for Hertfordshire County Council (2015-16 £78,556k).
The clinical commissioning group's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget for 2016-17 and 2015-16 were:
Equipment and Wheelchair
Service

2016-17
Contribution
Expenditure
Total Variance:

Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities

Total PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2016-17
£000

Total PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2016-17
£000

6,745
5,646
1,099

1,666
1,394
272

323,022
322,836
186

72,283
72,196
87

All Pooled
Funds

Better Care Fund

Total PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2016-17
£000

Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2016-17
£000

18,457
18,616
(159)

92,406
92,206
200

18,457
18,616
(159)

Note: The financial risk on the pooled fund element of the Better Care Fund (overspend £159,000 in 2016-17) rests with the Council.
Equipment and Wheelchair
Service

2015-16

Contribution
Expenditure
Total Variance:

Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities

All Pooled
Funds

Better Care Fund

Total PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2015-16
£000

Total PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2015-16
£000

Total PooledBudget
2015-16
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2015-16
£000

Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2015-16
£000

6,344
6,545
(201)

1,704
1,721
(17)

304,531
304,538
(7)

66,719
66,729
(10)

14,920
14,919
1

14,920
14,919
1

83,343
83,369
(26)
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13. Related party transactions
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical commissioning group Board members or
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the clinical commissioning
group.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the clinical commissioning group's Board. Details of payments made by the clinical
commissioning group to their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members were as follows:
Receipts Amounts Amounts
from owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£000
£000
£000
£000

Payments to
Related Party

Callowland Surgery - Dr C Moring
Direct Local Health Ltd - Dr R Eliad and Dr C Moring
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr M Edwards
Fernville Surgery - Dr K Hodge
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Harvey Group Practice - Dr M Walton
Hospice of St Francis - Dr T Fernandes
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - Dr T Fernandes and Dr K Hodge
Parkfield Medical Centre Potters Bar - C Sutherland

132
1,591
254
228
159
174
906
232
291
233
426
211

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
76
2
0
2
0
169
2
0
0
33
1

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, the clinical commissioning group had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The clinical commissioning group adopted a disclosure
level of £1million in 2016-17 and these entities are listed in the table below. In addition, the clinical commissioning group had a number of material
transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Where appropriate, these transactions have also
been reflected in the table below.

Payments to
Related Party

West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
London North West Healthcare NHS Trust
Barts Health NHS Trust
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust
Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
NHS East And North Hertfordshire CCG
Hertfordshire County Council
NHS England
HM Revenue and Customs
National Health Service Pension Scheme

£000
247,647
8,060
4,744
2,041
14,826
3,339
14,199
18,337
56,543
7,998
1,007
2,539
21,610
4,366
4,325
56,915
5,425
9,695
1,352
105,687
1,111
2,630
1,720

Receipts Amounts Amounts
from owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£000
£000
£000
0
3,875
1,387
0
0
51
0
335
17
0
587
0
0
348
0
0
869
0
0
211
0
0
480
0
0
857
0
0
1,198
14
0
0
27
0
240
0
0
1,902
0
0
248
0
0
160
0
0
2,640
416
0
175
4
0
812
60
140
151
188
72
3,099
194
0
209
0
932
237
58
0
153
0

The clinical commissioning group received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
2015-16 comparators are shown on the following page.
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13a. Related party transactions (2015-16)
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health Ministers, clinical commissioning group Board members or
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the clinical
commissioning group.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the clinical commissioning group's Board. Details of payments made by the clinical
commissioning group to their practices and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members were as follows:

Payments
Receipts
to Related from Related
Party
Party
Callowland Surgery - Dr C Moring
Direct Local Health Ltd - Dr R Eliad and Dr C Moring
Expertology Ltd - Dr R Ghosh
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr M Edwards
Fernville Surgery - Dr K Hodge
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Harvey Group Practice - Dr M Walton
Herts Urgent Care - Dr R Eliad, Dr M Walton and Dr R Pile
Hospice of St Francis - Dr T Fernandes
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - Dr T Fernandes and Dr K Hodge
Kestrel Grove Nursing Home - Dr N Small
Parkfield Medical Centre Potters Bar - C Sutherland
Health Education England - S Bloom

£000
137
1,175
127
212
204
129
156
7,507
689
251
294
209
131
355
183
0

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
147

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
2
101
6
5
6
2
5
23
0
3
10
2
0
7
2
0

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, the clinical commissioning group had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The clinical commissioning group adopted a
disclosure level of £1million in 2015-16 and these entities are listed in the table below. In addition, the clinical commissioning group had a
number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Where appropriate, these
transactions have also been reflected in the table below.

Payments
Receipts
to Related from Related
Party
Party
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
London North West Healthcare NHS Trust
Barts Health NHS Trust
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
NHS East & North Hertfordshire CCG
Hertfordshire County Council
NHS England
HM Revenue and Customs
National Health Service Pension Scheme

£000
231,368
7,529
4,232
1,954
13,954
2,899
14,239
17,941
57,764
6,858
2,140
19,707
3,863
4,055
47,294
5,097
8,630
1,450
96,221
2,796
2,226
1,571

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,853
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
1,125
33
315
1,569
739
529
98
39
1,854
721
332
2,372
0
46
1,766
274
1,160
164
3,313
53
199
140

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
1,160
142
11
0
0
0
606
0
0
16
0
0
179
336
251
0
0
26
306
0
73
0

The clinical commissioning group received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
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14. Events after the end of the reporting period
NHS England recently announced details of the clinical commissioning groups approved to take on greater delegated responsibility or to jointly
commission GP services from 1st April 2017. The new primary care co-commissioning arrangements are part of a series of changes set out in
the NHS Five Year Forward View.
This clinical commissioning group has been approved under delegated commissioning arrangements which mean that it will assume full
responsibility for contractual GP performance management, budget management and the design and implementation of local incentive
schemes from 1st April 2017.

15. Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

Target
£000

Performance
£000

Target
£000

Performance
£000

762,794
0
761,733

762,550
0
761,489

718,533
0
718,024

711,522
0
711,013

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

13,203

13,178

12,999

12,999

121

